
Schools Forum 
Agenda 

 
Thursday, 17 October 2019 
4.30 pm – 6.30pm, Rushey Green Primary School, Culverley Road, Catford 
SE6 2LA 
 
For more information contact:   Janita Aubun tel. 020 83147030 
Email: Janita.aubun@lewisham.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Item  Pages 
 

1.   Apologies and Acceptance of Apologies 
 

 

2.   Declaration of Interests 
 

 

3.   Draft Minutes of the Meeting - 11 July 2019 
 

1 - 10 

4.   Matters Arising 
 

 

5.   DSG 2019-20 Update 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the DSG 2019-20 
including consideration of a formulaic approach to three and four year old 
funding.     
    

11 - 15 

6.   Schools Financial Health Check 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide schools forum with an update on 
the schools financial health check based on the Governing Body 
approved budget.  The report will also consider next steps support 
required. 
 

16 - 25 

7.   Committed Funds Scheme 
 
This report provides further details on how such a scheme could operate. 
Scheme name has been changed from “lodged fund scheme”. 
 

26 - 29 

8.   Revised Scheme for Financing Schools 
 
The report provides a draft Scheme for Financing Schools for 
consideration by Schools Forum prior to consultation.      
 

30 - 102 

9.   High Needs Funding Update  103- 108 

Public Document Pack



 
Feedback on the High Needs Mitigation plan as discussed by the  
schools forum working group (High Needs). 
 
 

  10. Any Other Business 
 
Potential verbal update on Schools Funding. 

 
 

 Future Meetings 
 
12 December 2019 
16 January 2020 
 
 
All meetings will be held between 16:30 and 18:30 
 
 
Sub Group meetings  
 

High Needs Sub Group 

 
16 December 2019 
January 2020 

 

 

 

  
 

 



 

LEWISHAM SCHOOLS FORUM 

Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 11th July 2019 

   
Membership (Quorum = 40% i.e. 9)  = present  =absent     a = apologies  

                  s = substitute  

  Attendance 

Primary School 
Headteachers 

 4/10 6/12 17/01 11/07 Date of 
Appointment 

       

Paul Moriarty Good Shepherd a    Dec 2018 

Manda George Torridon Primary     Dec 2018 

Sharon Lynch St William of York     Dec 2018 

Keith Barr Kender     Dec 2018 

Matthew Ringham Our Lady & St Philip 
Neri 

    Dec 2018 

Nursery School 
Headteacher 

      

Cathryn Kinsey Clyde Nursery     Oct 2018 

Secondary School 
Headteachers 

      

Naill Hand Prendergast Ladywell     July 2019 

David Sheppard Leathersellers 
Federation 

    June 2018 

Mark Phillips Deptford Green     Oct 2016 

Clare Cassidy Sedgehill a  a  Dec 2017 

Special School 
Headteacher 

      

Lynne Haines  Greenvale     Oct 2018 

Pupil Referral Unit 
Headteacher 

      

Heather Johnston Abbey Manor    a Dec 2017 

Primary School 
Governors 

      

Rosamund Clarke Perrymount     Dec 2018 

       

Secondary & Special 
School Governors 

      

Pat Barber Bonus Pastor     Dec 2018 

Ruth Elliott Watergate   a  Mar 2019 

       

Academies       

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

Dr Tesca Bennett Haberdashers’ Knights 
Academy 

    Oct 2018 

14-19 Consortium Rep       

Asfa Sohail Lewisham Southwark 
College 

   a Mar 2019 

Early Years - PVI       

Dawn Nasser Rose House Montessori a    Jan 2017 

Diocesan Authorities       
Sara Sanbrook-Davies Southwark Diocesan 

Board of Education 

a    Dec 2016 

Yvonne Epale Substitute – Education 
Commission – Catholic 
Diocese of Southwark 

a    Feb 2018 

 
     

       
Lynne Haines Forum Chair     Oct 2017 

Keith Barr Forum Vice-Chair       Oct 2017 

 
 
 

Also Present  

Angela Scattergood AD Education Services 

Selwyn Thompson Head of Financial Services 

Mala Dadlani Interim Group Finance Manager 

Fiona Gavin Estate Management & Contracts 

Claudia Smith LB Lewisham 

Suhaib Saeed LB Lewisham 

Vaughan Williams Clerk 

  

  

  

  
  

  

  

 
 
 
1. Apologies and Acceptance of Apologies. 
 

Apologies received from Asfa Sohail and Heather Johnson. Apologies accepted.  
 

2. Declaration of Interests 
 
None. 
 

Page 2



 

3. Draft Minutes of the Meeting – 17 January 2019 
 
Agreed. 
 

4. Matter Arising 
 

Regarding the Schools Forum Action Summary and the Scheme of Delegation, 
Forum expressed concern that a report on the proposed updated scheme had been 
deferred given that it is a statutory document. The Interim Group Finance Manager 
advised that the deferral was a consequence of various considerations including 
recent DFE guidance which needs to be incorporated; outcomes of reports that will 
be discussed today and also the volume of statutory work required at present 
including closing accounts etc. The revised scheme would be made available for 
consideration at the Schools Forum meeting in October 2019.  
 
5. Finance Work Plan 
 

Forum were presented with a report to review the proposed schedule of future 
meeting dates and work programme as follow: 
 
The agreed dates for Schools Forum in the financial year 2019/20 are: 
 

Date Venue 
11 July 2019 Bonus Pastor School 
17 October 2019 Rushey Green Primary School, SE6 2LA 
12 December 2019 Civic Suite, Committee Room 3 
16 January 2020 Civic Suite, Committee Room 2 
                        
                        Time: 16:30-18:30 
 

The timing of the dates has been aligned to enable strategic direction with Schools’ 
Forum with specific activity corresponding to key events throughout the year. 

 

July Updates on closure of accounts position and 
consideration of intelligence on budget planning. 

October Updates and consideration of any policy decisions.  It 
is common for the Department for Education to 
publish data and announce any changes during the 
summer break. 

December Review any key discussions that impact upon and 
inform the setting of the 2020/21 schools’ budget 

January Notification of the 2020/21 DSG settlement and 
agreement of the schools delegated budget share, 
including any de-delegation.             

 
Forum currently has one operational sub-group, the High Needs sub group. This sub-
group will continue to review the High Needs Block and meetings and work programme 
should be strategically planned to report to the main forum meetings. 

 
  

Page 3



 

Date Venue 
 

3rd July 2019 10:30:12:00 Civic Suite, Room 4 
2nd  October 2019 Civic Suite 
16th December 2019 TBC 
January 2020 TBC 

 
 

Decision 
 
Although Forum agreed the proposed schedule of future meeting dates and work 
programme it was noted that additional ad hoc meetings can be requested as 
necessary. 
 
6. Finance Support to Schools 
 

Forum were presented with a report which provided an update on the measures 
being taken to improve the financial support to schools which is appropriate for the 
challenges that schools are facing in the current difficult financial climate.  
 

The Director of Financial Services (DFS) introduced the report by confirming the 
Council’s commitment to strengthening the relationship with; and financial support to 
schools. This was particularly important given the recent loss of 2 key members of 
staff who had provided direct support to schools. The intention was to continue to 
build and develop a positive working relationship with schools. 
 
The DFS also confirmed that whist he was currently working with corporate HR, in 
the review of the wider Council finance function, he had extended the contract of the 
Interim Group Finance Manager for at least a further 12 months in order to provide 
stability during the transition period. 
 
Reference was made to staff deployment table which illustrated the previous and 
current schools finance team staffing compliment showing the number of staff 
deployed on statutory and regulatory work and those supporting schools directly. 
The net effect showed that there had been an overall increase of 2.20 full-time 
equivalent staff deployed in the schools finance team with 2.30 FTE providing direct 
support to schools. The views and comments of Forum had been integral to building 
the new structure.   Work was also being reviewed and streamlined to enable more 
frontline support to schools.  
 

The intention moving forward was to maintain this staffing structure as long as a 
justifiable need for that level of finance support to schools remains. Forum noted that 
all but one school had been visited over the period April to June. Several schools 
had more than one visit and overall the feedback from the schools visits had been 
positive.  
 
Forum also noted that whilst existing financial documents and templates were 
currently being used a review was scheduled to take place over the summer to 
revise and update them in order to improve the quality of financial information. 

Page 4



 

Means of communication would also be reviewed and Headteachers and School 
Business Managers would be consulted on the proposed changes. 
 
The interim finance manager further asked Schools Forum to recognise the changes 
being made with a view to improving the support to schools.  This is a journey and 
will take some time to embed.    
 

Decision 
 
Forum agreed the following recommendation: 
 
Note the staff deployment supporting schools, including additional support.  
 
Acknowledge the limitations including financial constraints, deployment of staff to 
meet statutory and regulatory work.  
 
Approve the changes in process to enable more staff time to be deployed in Schools.  
 
Note the changes implemented since the January 2019 meeting of Schools Forum  
 
Agree to receive regular updates at each of the Schools’ Forum meetings throughout 
2019/20.  
 
7. School Kitchens Improvement 
 
Forum were presented with a report to agree a one off contribution to the school 
kitchen capital improvement programme of £250,000 from the catering surplus. 
 
Forum noted that in May 2015 the Council entered into a school meal contract with 
Chartwells on behalf of schools for five years with the option to extend for a further 
two years subject to the necessary approvals. Schools were billed for the delivery of 
service at the same rate as the previous year in order to protect against a steep rise 
anticipated by the phased implementation of London Living Wage. Although a 
surplus of £3.2 million was created the intention is to fully utilise the surplus by 2022. 
 
This surplus has been used to offset any pricing increase in the catering cost over 
the remaining term and a balance of approx. £1.8 million will remain at year end. 
Following the introduction of UIFSM in 2013 a grant of £743,182 was made available 
to improve school kitchens in order to accommodate the additional demand.  
 
A further £250,000 was added from the surplus in 2016 in order to support a work 
required bring the budget to £993,000. There are 66 schools included in the catering 
contract and 62 of these subscribe to the kitchen maintenance element. A 
conditional survey of 50 school kitchens was carried out by KEG in May 2017. The 
remaining 12 were not evaluated due to their condition and standard.  
 
The catering contract with Chartwells ends in May 2020 and whilst options are being 
considered for the future delivery of the service, kitchens will need to be handed on 
in good operational condition. If schools choose to exit the centralised arrangement 
kitchens will need to be returned at an acceptable standard. Following completion of 

Page 5



 

this year’s programme, 37 schools will still require priority 1 and 2 work as detailed in 
the appendices (1) attached to the paper. Much of the priority 3 works will be 
included in annual maintenance already covered. At year end a budget overspend of 
£5,127 is anticipated. Having reviewed the remaining work required an estimated 
£250,000 is required to deliver the outstanding priority 1 and priority 2 items. Any 
budget not used will be returned to the schools catering account. 

 
Decision 
 
Having discussed and voted on the proposal Forum agreed the following 
recommendation: 
 
One off contribution to the school kitchen capital improvement programme of 
£250,000 from the catering surplus.  
 

8. Schools Traded Services 
 

Forum received a presentation from the Services Manager Services for Schools 
which provided an update on the implementation and launch of SLA Online portal in 
January 2018, known as Lewisham Services for Schools, and the following 
development activities in 2018-19: 
 

 Part time Project Manager employed as a shared skills and time resource to 
support the strategic development of the site. 

 Successful Internal Audit, overall reassurance – Substantial 

 Financial and academic SLA’s launched for 2019/20 year. 

 Resource area development – training to Services and Page Administrators. 

 Governor module development – training for clerks. 

 Formal processes and procedures development – guidance detailing roles 
and responsibilities of stakeholders. 

 GDPR implementations – Privacy notice/Consent option. 
 

Forum noted the number of schools purchasing SLA’s, service providers and income 
generated which included an increase this year of £154,000 to date and that it was 
still possible for schools to buy back services where available including safeguarding 
which was available until October. Forum asked the Services Manager if he would 
explore the option of governors having access to the SLA portal so that it was 
possible to download the SLA brochure. 
 
Forum further noted the next steps for the service as follows: 
 

 Services have been asked to extend buy back period and follow up with 
schools who have not purchased their service this year to enquire why. 

 Services charging schools in arears (Payroll and Energy Procurement) 
encouraged to and bill schools via the portal, so buy back and income can be 
captured on the site. 

 Academic Year SLAs such as Education Business Partnership encouraged to 
use portal so all sales and billing can be recorded via the site. 

 Safeguarding Academic Year SLA buy back period will continue until October 
2019. 

 NQT Academic Year Training SLA to go live in July 2019. 

Page 6



 

 New STORE tab and developments being launched 1 September 2019 – 
Lewisham Council team will be updating user guides and provide 
communications and support to schools prior to the launch of 2020-21 SLAs 
in January 2020. 

 Ongoing requirement for individual services to review and QA their offer. 
 

The Director of Education assured Forum that continuing to build positive 
relationships with schools and customer care were a high priority. Although the 
transition from Fronter to the SLA Online will take place over the summer the 
deadline for colleagues in schools to respond to any issues concerned with the new 
portal was the 19 July. 
 
Forum noted that the reintroduction of the Estates Management SLA was currently 
under discussion and that a health & safety advice portal was being developed to 
include updated risk assessments.  
 
The Interim Group Finance Manager confirmed that work was currently underway to 
streamline the year end process and closure of accounts. Ideally, all central 
charges/transactions would be invoiced/posted on a regular basis rather than in 
week 53. There had also been discussions about closing the accounts by the 21 
March each year. 
 
Forum noted the content of the Schools Traded Services presentation and 
associated discussion points. 
 

9. High Needs Fund Budget 2019/20 
 
Forum received an update on the current pressures on the High Needs budget 
(HNB) for 2019-2020 and were provided with a detailed action plan to mitigate spend 
over the next three years.  
 
Lewisham had experienced increasing pressure on the HNB in recent years which is 
similar to other local authorities across the country. Forum noted that there are a 
number of reasons that are specific to Lewisham this includes following:  
 
September 2014 saw the introduction of reform to the process for identification of 
and provision for Special Educational Needs and/or Disability (SEND). The age of 
eligibility for EHCP was also broadened from 5-18 years to 0-25 years. Since the 
reforms there has been a national rise in requests for Education and Health Needs 
Assessment (EHCNA) which has been particularly marked in most London 
boroughs.  
 

Increase in the use of alternative education provision across the primary sector and 
request for additional support for children in school through the Fair Access Process. 
The use of out of borough provision for children with SEND, in particular those with 
Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH), Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and 
Speech, Language and Communication Needs (SLCN).  
 
The growing increase in Education Health Care Plans (EHCPs) in early years and 
children under five due to improved early identification and intervention across the 
sector. Forum noted details of the year on year increases in the number of children 

Page 7



 

with EHCP in Lewisham since 2015 and the overall percentage increase since 
between 2015 and 2019. 
Forum further noted the details of how Lewisham’s increase (43.3%) compares with 
other London authorities such as Lambeth, Southwark, Merton and Sutton that have 
similar increases whilst Newham and Enfield have experienced an increase of over 
50% since 2015. The number of children with EHCPs as a percentage of the total 
pupil population (attending Lewisham schools), compared to national and London 
data. Lewisham’s rate at 3.1% is the same as Inner London and slightly above 
London (3.0%) and national (2.9%). Lewisham has also had similar increases to 
London and national over recent years. 
 
Forum considered the contents of the Mitigation Action Plan which detailed the work 
currently being undertaken to analyse data and provide a range of options aimed at 
reducing the overall spend from the HNB including out borough placements not 
including transport costs. Evidence of a growing increase, and the contributory 
factors, in the applications for the Early Years Inclusion Fund were also noted. 
 

Decision 
 
Forum noted the actions of the Mitigation Action Plan as set out in the appendices 
attached to the committee report. 
 
10. 2018/20 Final DSG & Schools Balances report 
 
Forum received a report which provided an update on the final 2018/19 Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG) position and schools balances including an update on 2019/20 DSG. 
 

Forum noted a provisional minor underspend on the DSG of £1.2m representing 0.46% 
of the DSG.  A final positon will be known once the Department for Education (DfE) 
confirms the position for the Early Years Block.  The Early Years block remains 
provisional until the point that DfE has confirmed Early Years census numbers.  Forum 
had previously noted that the level of the Lewisham Early Years Inclusion Fund is very 
low compared to many other LAs.  Taking Hackney and Greenwich as examples, the 
Early Years Inclusion Fund is in excess of £1m per annum.   It is therefore recommended 
that any surplus balance Early Years block funds are targeted to the Early Years 
Inclusion Fund.  This option will have the added benefit of supporting early identification 
and meeting of SEND for under 5s which could potentially support the High Needs Block. 
 
Forum further noted the schools’ balance detailed position and associated summary 
information including the number of schools that have reduced or increased balances and 
movement in total value between 2017/18 and 2018/19.  Overall, the level of surpluses 
has increased and schools were invited to complete a return to enable any surplus to be 
captured to reflect commitments which totaled £6m based on returns from 28 schools.   
 
Discussions with schools suggest that they are cautious about spending and are tending 
to hold resources to support them over the next few years.  Key concerns impacting upon 
funding are arising from pupil number variations, teachers’ pay, support staff pay, 
teachers’ pensions, and other operational inflationary pressures.   
 
Although the schools balances position for Lewisham has increased, on face value, from 

Page 8



 

£14m to £18m this figure needs to be taken with caution as it includes committed spend.  
Simply based on the 28 returns circa £6m is committed leaving £12m uncommitted. 
Although £12m as a % of total schools budget is equivalent to 6%, which is within the 
overall tolerance of reserve levels, further school by school level discussions need to take 
place together with the link to school improvement.   
 
Forum were informed that the level of committed spend distorts the ability to assess a 
school’s financial position and were asked to consider the principle of lodged funds; 
where the school’s funds- if appropriately committed- are held as separate from 
uncommitted balances.  The funds remain exclusively for the relevant school but enable 
a clearer picture of the school’s individual longer term sustainability to be determined.  
 

DSG 2019/20   
 
Forum noted the current 2019/20 DSG position which confirmed that whilst the Schools 
Block had been reduced, for recoupment, there had also been an overall reduction in 
High Needs Block of £32k to reflect additional places that are funded directly by the 
ESFA on behalf of Lewisham.  Although both adjustments were intended to be a net 
neutral Forum noted that the final position on the Early Years Block is still awaited. 

 
With regard to balances and schools exercising caution Forum commented that the 
late notification of budgets and delays in closing the accounts were factors. The 
Interim Group Finance Manager said that budget notification delays had resulted 
from the DfE not providing information in a timely fashion and that measures were 
being taken to streamline the year-end process. The scheme would be optional and 
that schools depositing committed funds would need to show evidence of spend 
against their nominated project/s. The introduction of the lodged fund scheme would 
strengthen the Council’s position when discussing future funding arrangements with 
the DfE. 
 
Whilst Forum agreed in principle to the introduction of a lodged fund scheme, to 
protect schools against the risk of carrying high surpluses, they required detailed 
proposals to be brought forward to include confirmation of where funds would be 
lodged and how they would be accounted for. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Forum noted the contents of this report as follows: 
 
Forum agreed in principle to the introduction of a schools’ committed reserves 
management fund subject to detailed proposals to be brought forward. 
 
Forum agreed to approve the transfer of any un-clawed funds from the Early Years 
block to Support Early Years Inclusion Fund.  
 
 
11. Any Other Business. 
 
Term of Office for the Chair and Vice-Chair of Schools Forum. Further to a 

discussion regarding updating the terms of reference for Schools Forum, and the 

Page 9



 

length of the term of office for the Chair and Vice-Chair, a three year term was 

agreed. It was also agreed to include the term of office for all members of Forum to 

the attendance list. 

 
 
 
SCHOOLS FORUM ACTION SUMMARY 

 

ITEM ACTION TO BE 
TAKEN 

OFFICER (S) 
RESPONSIBLE 

OUTCOME/ 
CURRENT 
POSITION 

Scheme of 
Delegation 

Report on the 
proposed scheme. 

Mala Dadlani 
 

For Oct 2019 
forum. 
 

Forum 11 July 2019, 
Item 6 – Finance 
Support to Schools 

Financial support 
to schools. 
 

Mala Dadlani 
 

Update report 
for next 
Schools Forum 
meeting 

Forum 11 July 2019, 
Item 10 – 2018/19 
Final DSG & 
Schools Balances 
Report. 

In principle 
agreement to the 
introduction of 
lodged funds 
scheme. 

Mala Dadlani Detailed 
proposals for 
next Schools 
Forum 
meeting. 

    

 

Page 10



 

        
 

Schools Forum 
 

REPORT TITLE 
 

 

Dedicated  Schools Grant (DSG) 2019/2020 Update 
 

KEY DECISION 
 

 

No 
 

Item No.  
 

5 
 

WARD 
 

 

N/A 
 

CLASS 
 

 
 

Date  
 

17th October 2019 
 

 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 
 

1.1. This report provides a regular update on the DSG to Schools Forum.  The report 
proposes a more formulaic approach the application of the Early Years 3 & 4 year 
old funding to better support clarity.       

 
 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1. Schools Forum is recommended to: 
 

2.1.1. Note the contents of this report and to agree the formalisation of the 
formulaic approach to the three and four year old funding entitlement. 

2.1.2. Agree the application of the final settlement for 2018/19 of £186k to 
the deprivation factor within the three and four year old entitlement 
funding to provide transitional support 

2.1.3. Support a review of the Deprivation Factor (2020/21) for consideration 
by the Schools Forum.    

2.1.4. Agree that the Head of Early Years brings an annual report to Schools 
Forum.          

 
 

3. DSG 2019/20 
 

3.1. Table 1 below shows the updated July 2019 DSG positon. 
 

 
Table 1 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 

3.2. At this stage the overall DSG positon is expected to be on target with the settlement.  
 
 

4. Schools Block 
 

4.1. Overall at gross level, the allocation for Lewisham remains at £209.65m. The net 
position is adjusted for recoupment with regards to the amount the ESFA will top 
slice to fund Lewisham academy schools. 
 

5. Central School Services Block 
 

5.1. There is no change to this element. This budget remains at £5.42m   
 
 

6. High Needs Block 
 

6.1. There is an overall reduction in our gross allocation of £108k. This is the adjustment 
for high needs places between “exported” places (children placed in other LAs) and 
“imported” places (children from other LAs placed in Lewisham schools). 
 

6.2. The net position shows a further adjustment of £42k reflecting ESFA adjustments for 
academy schools. 

 
6.3. The overall impact for the LA is predicted to be net neutral. 

 
 

7. Early Years Block 
 

7.1. Overall Lewisham has received an increase in its allocation of £320k. Variance is 
shown in Table 2:  
 

 

 
 
Table 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

7.2. Headline movement within the EY block is shown in Table 3:  
 

 Movement- EY Block  £ 

3 & 4 year old 15 hours 
-

£129,546 

3 & 4 year old additional 15 hours  £312,171 

2 year old £161,353 

Pupil premium -£21,476 

Disability Access Fund £0.00 

Maintained Nursery Supplementary Fund 0 

Net movement £322,503 
Table 3 

  
7.3. It should be noted that with there is a general expectation that EY funding is spent 

for the purpose intended. The funding of the three and four year old entitlement 
within the wider EY block is governed by rigorous guidelines. It is suggested to 
Forum that the current adaption of three and four year old funding formula needs to 
be adjusted to better meet these conditions.  
 

7.4. Local Authorities must ‘passthrough’ 95% of EY funding to providers, thus with they 
have the ability to retain 5% for central EY activity. The passthrough element 
includes the basic hourly rate and the applied deprivation factor; the set-aside EY 
Inclusion Fund allocated through agreed protocol to support individual children and a 
contingency. 

 
7.5. Lewisham currently retains only 3.8% for central EY activity as it has been set on a 

historic basis. 
 

7.6. EY central activity not only facilitates the collection of headcounts and financial 
processes to get the money out to settings, it also delivers a range of activity to 
ensure that children access their free entitlements in high quality provision. This 
includes information for parents to increase take-up (a key priority); quality 
improvement framework to support settings to improve practice, inclusion and 
outcomes; ensuring delivery on priorities such as health, mental health; 
underachieving groups; parenting support and transition to school.  We propose that 
the Service Manger for Early Years reports annually to forum on the allocation of EY 
central funds. 

 
7.7. The deprivation factor should be calculated within the formula as a percentage of the 

three and four year old funding element within the EY block. In Lewisham it has 
historically been calculated as a percentage of the entire EY block. This is not the 
correct application. In 2018/19 the deprivation factor was £864k. 

 
7.8. A recommended formulaic approach which will better meet funding guidelines and 

enable budgets to flex in line with movement in take-up is outlined here and in Table 
4: 
 

7.8.1. Lewisham is funded at £5.62 per child 
7.8.2. Our basic hourly rate to settings is set at £5.00 per hour as agreed by 

Schools Forum. This accounts for 89% of the available funds. 
7.8.3. 5% of funds for central EY activity equates to 28p per hour.   

Page 13



 

7.8.4. 2% (or £0.12) would be required to maintain the EY Inclusion Fund at circa 
£450k as discussed previously with Forum. Based on the current projected 
numbers, this is equivalent to £443k  

7.8.5. Proposal for 1% (or £0.05) contingency to deal with any volatility in 
numbers which would have an impact on all associated budgets. 

7.8.6. Proposed 3% (or £0.17) for deprivation factor. This would deliver a budget 
of £627k.  

 
7.9. The DFE has awarded an increase for 2018/19 of £186k. It was previously agreed at 

Forum that any unallocated additional funds would be put in the EY Inclusion Fund. 
 

7.10. Schools Forum will note that the revised deprivation figure will leave a gap of £237k 
between the 2018/19 figure of £864k and the £627k.  For 2019/20, it is proposed that 
the £186k additional funding is used to support the deprivation factor to keep this in 
line with prior year positions, with contingency meeting the remainder. This would 
mean that there are no unallocated funds available for the EY Inclusion fund. 

 
7.11. With Forum’s agreement, going forward, the three and four year old funding formula 

would deliver the three and four year old entitlement budget as outlined in Table 4. 
 

% £5.62 Split Purpose 

89% £5.00 £18,463,548 Hourly rate 

3% £0.17 £627,761 Deprivation 

2% £0.12 £443,125 EY Inclusion Fund 

1% £0.05 £184,635 Contingency 

    

5% £0.28 £1,033,959 LA retained  central EY activity 

  £5.62 £20,753,028   

        

    Total Hours Total Funding 

PTE 4,861 2747707 £15,442,111 

  1,658 945003 £5,310,917 

  Total 3692710 £20,753,028 

   
7.12. The current method of applying the deprivation factor is very cumbersome and works 

on the basis of:-  
 

I. identification of number of pupils in IDACI 21% 
II. exclude settings where the number is less than 5 

III. weighting based on banding structure to recognise number of pupils with 
IDACI  

IV. enhanced threshold of £271.20 for every child if the number of pupils is 
greater than 20. 

 
7.13. Whilst it can be appreciated that the method aims to best target need, it is 

overcomplicated, funding is not ‘following the child’ in smaller settings and it actually 
excludes funding to some settings which are small and potentially most likely to 
benefit from funding. 
 

7.14. It is proposed that a paper be presented to the December meeting of schools forum to 
lay out a less complicated, more transparent and equitable funding model for Early 
Years.  

 

Page 14



 

7.15. Supplementary Factor for Maintained Nursery Schools (MNS) 
7.15.1. Schools Forum should note that the MNS supplementary factor is currently noted 

at £441k for 2019/20. This is a protection arrangement to fund MNS in addition 
to the above £5.62 hourly allocation to the LA.  This is allocated to between the 
two nursery schools as an enhancement of £2.70 per hour on a place-filled 
basis.  The funding can only be allocated across the two MNS.  Options will be 
considered with the relevant schools to consider if it is possible to simplify the 
method to enable the MNS to have more upfront stability.  Lewisham is currently 
awaiting information from the DfE regarding 2020/21 funding arrangements 
including the detail supporting supplementary funding.      
 

 
8. Further Information 

 
8.1. Should you require any additional information regarding the items contained in this 

report please contact: 
 
Mala Dadlani 
Interim Group Finance Manager for CYP on 020 8314 3581 
mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
Or  
 
Selwyn Thompson  
Head of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932 
selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

Page 15

mailto:mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk


 

        
 

 

Schools Forum 
 

REPORT TITLE 
 

 
Schools Financial Health Check and Consultation on 
“financial transparency of Local Authority Maintained 
Schools and Academy Trusts” 

 

KEY DECISION 
 

 

No 
 

Item No.  
 

6 
 

WARD 
 

 

N/A 
 

CLASS 
 

 
 

Date  
 

17th October 
2019 
 

 
 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 

 
1.1 This report provides Schools Forum with a schools’ financial health check 

based on the 2019/20 Governing Body Approved Budget Plans. 
 

1.2 The report also includes the local authority’s response to the Department 
for Education’ summer consultation “Financial Transparency of Local 
Authority Maintained Schools and Academy Trusts” 

1.3 There is also an update on the changes progressed by Schools Finance 
team to support schools. 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 Please note: 
  

a. The overall position for Lewisham schools based on budget plans 
supplied suggests an extremely challenging landscape over the 3 year 
budget cycle. 

 
b. Review of previous year’s data notes large volatility between budget 

plan position and outturn and for this reason the information must be 
treated with caution. The key goal is to work with schools so that a 
more reflective positon is presented at budget planning compared with 
outturn.   

 
c. Within budget plans there are assumptions.  With regards to Pupil 

Premium there is an estimated reduction in pupil premium funding of 
net £702k, being a reduction of £932k offset with increases of £230k. 
This will further frustrate schools’ ability to set a balanced budget.   

   

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



 

d. The DfE summer consultation paper on “Financial Transparency of 
Local Authority Maintained Schools and Academy Trusts” and the LA 
response.  

 
e. The potential implications of the above for Lewisham LA and schools. 

 
f. Update on changes progressed by the Schools Finance Team to 

support schools, including a presentation of the revised budget plan 
documents incorporating key metrics modules for primary and 
secondary schools.  Modules for Special and Nursery Schools are yet 
to be developed and will be developed before the Financial Settlement 
information in spring.      

 

3. School budget plans and balances. 

 
3.1 All schools have submitted a budget plan for 2019/20.  However some 

schools are currently working with the LA where the information provided 
required further revision or the schools position requires formal deficit 
recovery planning.  

 
3.2 Table 1 shows the position of Lewisham schools as at the end of the 

financial year. In total there are 10 schools in deficit; however delving 
deeper an additional 5 are supported by loans totalling £2.5m    

 

Table 1 

 Phase 
Schools in 

Deficit  
Schools in Deficit 
(excluding loans) 

Primary 3 3 

Secondary  3 3 

All through 2 3 

Special/PRU 1 3 

Nursery 1 2 

Total  10 14 

 
 
 

 
3.3 Table 2 shows the number of schools that are able to set a balanced 

budget over the 3 year period.  By 2021/22 only 44% of schools are able 
to set a balanced budget position.   

 

Table 2 
    

Schools that are able to set a balanced budget (i.e. excludes 
loans) 

 
  

s t u 

Page 17



 

Phase Total Schools 

Balanced 
Budget 

2019/20 

Balanced 
Budget 

2020/21 

Balanced 
Budget 

2021/22 

Primary 58 55 46 26 

Secondary  8 3 3 4 

All through 3 2 2 1 

Special/PRU 6 5 4 3 

Nursery 2 1 0 0 

Total  77 66 55 34 

Total    86% 71% 44% 

 
 
3.4 Table 3 shows the number of schools that are able to set a balanced 

budget only by using reserves.  
 
 

Table 3 

   
 

Schools that are able to set a balanced budget using 
reserves 

 
  

I  J  K 

Phase Total Schools 

Balanced 
Budget 

2019/20 using 
reserves 

Balanced 
Budget 

2020/21 using 
reserves 

Balanced 
Budget 

2021/22 using 
reserves 

Primary 58 47 38 20 

Secondary  8 1 2 2 

All through 3 1 1 0 

Special/PRU 6 3 3 2 

Nursery 2 1 0 0 

Total  77 53 44 24 

  

69% 57% 31% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

3.5 Table 4 shows the level of reserves reducing to £4.5m by 2021/22  
 

Table 4 

 
      

Number of Schools 
with Reserves  

      

  

s 
 

t 
 

u 
 

Phase 
Total 

Schools 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

    no. £m no. £m no. £m 

Primary 58 55 -£12.209 46 -£6.521 26 -£2.258 

Secondary  8 3 -£0.513 3 -£0.555 4 -£0.771 

All through 3 2 -£0.702 2 -£0.552 1 -£0.204 

Special/PRU 6 5 -£2.909 4 -£1.849 3 -£1.293 

Nursery 2 1 -£0.015 0 £0.000 0 £0.000 

Total  77 66 -£16.348 55 -£9.477 34 -£4.526 

 
 
 
3.6 Table 5 shows the number of schools with projected deficits 
 

Table 5 

 
      

Number of Schools 
with Deficits  

      

  

s 
 

t 
 

u 
 

Phase 
Total 

Schools 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

    no. £m no. £m no. £m 

Primary 58 3 £0.365 11 £1.259 31 £6.206 

Secondary  8 5 £2.523 5 £2.226 4 £4.277 

All through 3 1 £0.206 1 £0.171 2 £0.235 

Special/PRU 6 1 £0.968 2 £1.761 3 £3.487 

Nursery 2 1 £0.106 2 £0.681 2 £1.453 

Total  77 11 £4.167 21 £6.098 42 £15.658 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

3.7 Table 6 shows the net projected position 
 
 

Table 6 

       

Net position 

       

        

Phase 
Total 

Schools 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

    no. £m no. £m no. £m 

Primary (Note 1) 58 58 -£11.844 57 -£5.263 57 £3.948 

Secondary  8 8 £2.010 8 £1.671 8 £3.506 

All through 3 3 -£0.496 3 -£0.380 3 £0.031 

Special/PRU 6 6 -£1.941 6 -£0.088 6 £2.195 

Nursery 2 2 £0.090 2 £0.681 2 £1.453 

Total  77 77 -£12.181 76 -£3.379 76 £11.132 

Note - 1 Primary 
School has "£0" 

        
 
 
3.8. The DfE statutory position is that loans (i.e. deficits) must not exceed 

40% of the overall surplus position. Lewisham is currently at 25%, 
progressing to 65% in 2020/21. 
 

3.9. All information is based on budget returns from schools including 
assumptions that need to be clarified. 

4. Reliability of information  

 
4.1. The information presented in this report needs to be read with caution, as 

historically there has been significant variance between budgets 
submitted as part of the closure of accounts and the final outturn. There 
are various reasons for this, including changes in pupil data, updated 
funding announcement etc. 

     

Table 7 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast Outturn from 
May/June Plans 

Outturn - Actuals Variance 

  £m £m £m 

2016/17 -0.91 -10.92 -10.01 

2017/18 -6.84 -16.91 -10.07 

2018/19 -11.84 -20.55 -8.71 

2019/20 -13.90     

2020/21 -3.40     

2021/22 11.00     

 

Page 20



 

 
4.2. Collaborative participation and new ways of working need to continue for 

the data to be accurately reflective in future outturn position.   
 
 

5. Pupil premium 2019/20 and pupil number changes  

 
5.1. Lewisham school finance team have identified a reduction in pupil premium 

of around £700k net, comprising £900k reduction offset by £200k increase. 
Whilst these are DfE estimates, we are working to the premise they are 
broadly correct. This will have implications for some schools who have 
factored in higher levels.  During the autumn term we will be working closely 
with schools to revise this data for pupil premium, pupil number and any 
other changes. 

6. Further changes for 2019/20 

 
6.1. The financial situation emerging in this report is not unique to Lewisham.  

The DfE are aware of the potential implications.  In response a consultation 
was issued during the summer (14th July to 30th September).    “Financial 
Transparency of Local Authority Maintained Schools and Academy Trusts”.  
A copy of the Local Authority response is attached for your information.  
Overall the direction of travel is that the DFE is aware of the financial 
pressures in schools and appears to be shifting responsibility to sit with 
schools and the Local Authority, with greater accountability at the Local 
Authority level and a shift away from the previous light touch approach. 
 

7. Additional support to schools 
 

 
7.1. At the last forum meeting we provided an update on the changes that we 

have put in place to support schools. 
 

7.2. In light of discussions with forum, schools, Schools Resource management 
Advisors (SMRA), DFE and the consultation paper, we have developed a 
collaborative metric base approach to analysis.  Versions for primary and 
secondary schools will be presented to this meeting of schools forum as 
draft.   

 
7.3. The metric information will then need to be progressed to specialist 

provision and nursery schools.       
 

 Appendix A shows a draft for secondary schools  
 Appendix B shows the draft for primary schools    
 

8.      Further Information 

 
8.1.  Should you require any additional information regarding the items contained in 

this report please contact: 

Page 21



 

 
Mala Dadlani 
Interim Group Finance Manager for CYP on 020 8314 3581 
mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
Or  
 
Selwyn Thompson  
Head of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932 
selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Appendix A 

Page 22

mailto:mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 
 

 

 

Page 23



 

Appendix A (Continued) 

 

 

Page 24



 

 
 

 

 

Appendix B 

       
 
Schools Finance Sheet Of Budget Plan Template 2019/20

Insert School Cost Centre >>>

0

DfE Benchmarking 

Guide

Primary

75

20-25

11+

0.78-0.8

35-45k

2-2.5k

25-30

42-52

10-15

5-8

7-12

12-17

£0

£0

*Includes Leadership Staff and TLR 

costs

Teacher Contact ratio

Pupil Adult ratio

Pupil Teacher ratio

Management Costs* as % of Total 

Teaching Costs

Leadership Costs as % of Total 

Teaching Costs

Total Staff Costs as % of Total 

Revenue Funding

Non-Curriculum Staff Costs as % of 

Total Revenue Funding

Education Support Staff Costs as 

% of Total Revenue Funding

Total Teaching Staff Costs as % of 

Total Revenue Funding

Average Class Size

Per Lesson Cost per week per year

Average Teacher Cost

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0

0.0

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.00

0.0

0.0

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0

£0

£0

0

£0

£0

0.0

0.0

0.00

0.0

Explanation

Cumulative Revenue Balance

-£                      -£                      -£                      

0.00

Explanation

-£                      -£                      -£                      

In-Year Revenue Balance

 

Page 25



        
 

Schools Forum 
 

REPORT TITLE 
 

 

Committed Funds Scheme 
 

 

KEY DECISION 
 

 

No 
 

Item No.  
 

7 
 

WARD 
 

 

N/A 
 

CLASS 
 

 
 

Date  
 

17th October 
2019 

 
 

1 Purpose of the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Schools Forum with proposed process for 
considering the implementation of the Committed Funds Scheme as discussed at 
the last Schools Forum meeting.  For clarification, this is a voluntary scheme and 
funds will continue to remain as part of the schools balances.  It merely assists 
the schools to decipher between committed and non-committed funds for the 
benefit of budgeting. 
    

2 Recommendation 
 

2.1 Schools Forum is asked to :-  
 

2.1.1 Note the contents of this report 
2.1.2 Recognise that the scheme is voluntary and is intended to support 

schools with established budgets for specific allowable commitments, to 
distinguish these from “business as usual funds”. 

2.1.3 Approve the operation of the scheme as set out in Appendix A 
 
 

3 Background 
 

3.1 At the July Schools Forum meeting the interim Finance Manager informed Forum 
that the level of school balances on closure of accounts had increased by £4.5m 
from £14.1m in 2017/18 to £18.6m in 2018/19. 
 

3.2 Engagement with schools informed us that a fair proportion of these funds relate 
to commitments that are “allowable”- i.e. deemed exempt from clawback under 
the clawback mechanism set out in the Lewisham Scheme for Financing 
Schools.   
 
 

4 Committed Funds  
 

4.1 The Scheme for Financing Schools as it presently stands  notes the following 
allowable commitments as exempt from the balance control mechanism : 
 

 capital works; 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



 savings to fund enhancements to new builds from the Building 
Schools for the Future programmes and Private Finance Initiatives; 

 funding shortfalls for future temporary drops in pupil numbers; 

 funds to dampen the effects of step increases in pupil numbers that 
occur in September but are not funded until the following financial 
year; 

 Single status; 

 joint school collaboration projects which run over more than one 
year;  

 accruals that should have taken place but could not be actioned in 
time for closing the accounts;  

 and any administrative error in the accounts. 
 
 

4.2 Lewisham no longer applies the balance control mechanism and the collection of 
information regarding the above criteria has not been in place.  As part of the 
changes we would be asking schools to provide details for committed spend. 

 
4.3 During visits to schools, it was often difficult to understand the true financial 

position of the school. The possibility to offer schools the ability to keep funds 
aside for specified commitments was discussed in appropriate cases.  Feedback 
suggested this would be helpful for both the school and the Local Authority. 

 
4.4 For clarity, the process merely splits long term committed spend from non-

committed spend for no other purpose than “presentation for clarity”.  The funds 
continue to belong to the school. 

 
4.5 To ensure the committed funds are lodged for “bona fida” purposes application 

criteria is attached at Appendix A. Schools lodging funds will need to provide 
evidence that the money is being spent on the purpose intended. 

 
4.6 This is a voluntary scheme for schools who feel it would offer greater clarity in 

their budget discussions with the Governing Body and Local Authority. 
  
 

5 Further Information 
 

5.1 Should you require any additional information regarding the items contained 
in this report please contact: 

 
Mala Dadlani 
Interim Group Finance Manager for CYP on 020 8314 3581 
mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
Or  
 
Selwyn Thompson  
Head of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932 
selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 27

mailto:mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk


 
Appendix A 

 
 

Process for Committed Funds 
 

 
1. Purpose of Scheme 
 

1.1. This scheme is a voluntary facility which allows schools to “commit funds” for 
specific committed purposes. 
 

1.2. Once “committed” the schools will be required to provide evidence that the 
funding has been spent for the purpose intended (e.g. capital works). 

 
1.3. The key benefit of this scheme is that is allows the committed funds to be 

presented as split from the general uncommitted spend. This would be helpful to 
the school, the governing body and the LA in finance discussions which are often 
confused by the “committed balances”. 

 
 
2. How to apply 
 

2.1. Schools that want to apply will required to complete the form below, stating  
 

 Name of School 

 Contact person at school e.g. Bursar 

 Value of Funds 

 Purpose of Funds 

 Estimated spend 

 Estimated spend date 

 Date agreed with Governing body. 

 Signed by Chair and head teacher  
 
 
3. How to access funds 
 

3.1. Schools need to advice the LA 5 working days prior to accessing the funds with 
some backup e.g. invoice. 
 

 
4. What happens to funds no longer required 
 

4.1. Schools simply provide reasoning e.g. quote lower than planned, or change in 
priority etc. The funds will be transferred back to the schools uncommitted 
position. 

 
5. Can the LA control my funds 
 

5.1. No. funds belong to the school.  
      

Page 28



 
6. Template 

 

Name of Schools  

  

School Contact   

Name  

Designation  

Phone number  

Email  

 
 
 
 

Value of funds to lodge £ £20,000 

Total funds required to be lodged as committed £30,000 

Funds to add £10,000 

Purpose of Committed Spend Match funding towards sensory 
playground 

Expected spend date March 2022 

 
 
Please provide a brief description  
 

 
 
 

       
 
Signed by  
 
Chair of Governors 
 
 
 
 
 
Name (please print)                                                                       Date  

 
 
 
 

Head Teacher 
 
 
 
 
 
Name (please print)                                                                         Date    
    

Page 29



        
 

Schools Forum 
 

REPORT TITLE 
 

 

Revised Scheme for Financing Schools 
 

 

KEY DECISION 
 

 

No 
 

Item No.  
 

8 
 

WARD 
 

 

N/A 
 

CLASS 
 

 
 

Date  
 

17th October 
2019 

 
 

1          Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Schools Forum with a revised 

Scheme for Financing Schools.  
 
 
2          Recommendation 

 
2.1 The Schools Forum is asked to :-  

 
2.1.1 Note the revisions stated, noting that DFE directives do not require 

consultation however local variations do require consultation.   
2.1.2 Approve the consultation paper as attached for wider consultation with 

maintained schools   
2.1.3 Agree the duration of the consultation to take place from 1st November to 

the 15th December with outcomes of the consultation to be presented to 
Schools Forum in January 2020. 

 
 

3         Background 
 
Local authorities are required to publish schemes for financing schools 
setting out the financial relationship between them and the schools they 
maintain.  
 
On 5th February 2019, the Department for Education (DfE) issued version 
10 of the statutory guidance for local authorities on schemes for financing 
schools. It relates to Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998, and Schedule 14 to the act. 
 
The guidance lists the provisions which a local authority’s scheme must, 
should or may include. Schemes need not follow the format used in this 
guidance. 
 
In making any changes to their schemes, local authorities must consult all 
maintained schools in their area and receive the approval of the members 
of their schools forum representing maintained schools. Local authorities 
must take this guidance into account when they revise their schemes, in 

Page 30

Agenda Item 8



consultation with the schools forum. 
 
Any DfE directives do not require revision and are effective from the date of 
publication by the DFE.  

 
Schools Forum at its meeting in July was advised that a revised version of 
the Scheme for Delegation will be presented at the meeting in October.  
Appendix A provides the current Scheme for financing School which was 
last updated at 1st April 2016. 
 
Since that period there have been changes both locally and by the DFE.  
This report aims to bring the Scheme for Financing Schools up to date as at 
the DFE guidance of the 4th February and Locally based on the July 2019 
Schools Forum meeting. 
 

 DFE directives that do not require approval -Green is DFE directive 

 Changes supported by Forum which need formalisation Pink is LA  

changes agreed with Schools Forum 
 Any further changes arising from this review of the scheme.  Blue is LA 

changes being proposed—and require consultation 

 DfE changes from prior years and do not require consultation -Purple 
  

 
As stated, a consultation process will be required.  Mindful of the level of 
changes arising from the different reasons, it is proposed that simple 
document accompany the “Draft Scheme for Financing Schools”.  A sample 
is attached at Appendix B inviting schools to respond with any comments or 
changes.       
 
The Consultation will take place between 1st November to the 15th 
December 2019, outcomes will be presented to Schools Forum at the 
January 2020 meeting.   
 
 

4 Revisions to the Scheme for Financing Schools (Appendix A) 
 

 
4.1 DfE directives that do not require approval (Green )   

 
 

4.2 Changes supported by Forum which need formalisation -Pink is LA changes 
agreed with Schools Forum 

 
1. 4 October 2018 - Redundancy. The Scheme has been updated to 

incorporate Lewisham positon regarding redundancy payments into 
the DFE latest wording. Does not require further consultation.  

 
2. 11th July 2019 – Reporting changes .  The scheme has been 

updated to include the changes agreed at the July 2019, meeting. 
a. Budget Plan 1 Date extended to June the 15th unless a 

school has specifically asked for a further extension in which 

Page 31



case the date can be extended to the 30th June.   
b. Budget Plan 2          Requirement for Schools to submit a 

revised Budget plan following census in October. Due date 
being 15th November,  unless a school has specifically asked 
for a further extension in which case the date can be 
extended to the 30th November. 

c. Monthly Monitoring -Schools are required to undertake 
monthly monitoring and discuss the information with their 
Governing Body.  There is no longer a requirement to submit 
the plans to the LA.  The monitoring statements will be 
reviewed as part of the termly visits and considered 
alongside the budget plans.     

 
   

 
4.3 The document has also been revised for changes that are prior to the 

February 2019 guidance shown in purple.  These do not require 
consultation as they are DfE directives 

 
4.4 The document has also been revised for changes proposed by the Local 

Authority which will form the main basis of consultation         
 
 
5.        Further Information 

 
5.1 Should you require any additional information regarding the items contained 

in this report please contact: 
 

Mala Dadlani 
Interim Group Finance Manager for CYP on 020 8314 3581 
mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
Or  
 
Selwyn Thompson  
Head of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932 
selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

mailto:mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk


 
KEY –  

 
Green = DFE directive 

 
Purple = DFE directive from previous versions 
Pink = LA changes agreed with Schools Forum 

Blue = LA changes being proposed 
 

DRAFT..v1 (summer 2019) 

 
THE FUNDING FRAMEWORK 

 
SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO SCHOOLS 

Scheme for Financing Schools 
 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM  
 

Effective from 1 April 2016 1st April 2019.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



P a g e  | 3 

 

   

 
 

LIST OF CONTENTS 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  The funding framework   
1.2  The role of the scheme 
1.3  Application of the scheme to the LA and maintained schools 
1.4  Publication of the scheme 
1.5  Revision of the scheme 
1.6 Delegation of powers to the Headteacher 
1.7   Maintenance of Schools 
 
2. FINANCIAL CONTROLS & AUDIT 
 
2.1 General Procedures 
2.1.1 Application of financial controls to schools 
2.1.2a Provision of financial information and reports 
2.1.2b Challenge of School Financial Performance 
2.1.3  Payment of salaries; payment of bills 
2.1.4  Control of assets 
2.1.5  Accounting policies (including year-end procedures) 
2.1.6  Writing off of debts 
 
2.2  Basis of accounting 
2.3  Submission of budget plans 
2.3.1  Submission of Financial forecasts 
2.4  Efficiency and Value For Money School resource management 
2.5  Virement 
2.6  Audit: General 
2.7  Separate external audits 
2.8  Audit of voluntary and private funds 
2.9  Register of business interests 
2.10  Purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements 
2.11  Application of contracts to schools 
2.12  Central funds and earmarking 
2.13  Spending for the purposes of the school 
2.14  Capital spending from budget shares 
2.15  Notice of Concern 
2.16  School Financial Value Standard 
2.17  Fraud 

Page 34



P a g e  | 4 

 

   

 
3. AVAILABILITY OF CASH FOR LOCAL EXPENDITURE; BANKING 
ARRANGEMENTS 
 
3.1  Frequency of cash advances 
3.2  Amount of cash advances 
3.3  Ad hoc cash advances retirement 
3.4  Late cash advances 
3.5  Bank and building society accounts 
3.5.1 Restrictions on accounts 
3.6 Borrowing by schools  
3.6  Other provisions 
 
 
 
4. THE TREATMENT OF SURPLUSES AND DEFICIT BALANCES ARISING IN 
RELATION TO BUDGET SHARES 
 
4.1  Right to carry forward surplus balances 
4.2  Reporting on and control of the use of balances (Balance control 

mechanism) 
4.2.1  The right to appeal 
4.2.2  Monitoring of approved plans 
4.3  Interest on surplus balances 
4.4  Obligation to carry forward deficit balances 
4.5  Planning for deficit balances 
4.6  Charging of interest on deficit balances 
4.7  Writing off deficits 
4.8  Balances of closing and replacement schools 
4.9 Borrowing for agreed purposes  Borrowing by Schools 
4.10 Licensed deficits 
4.11  Loan /Innovation Fund 
 
5. INCOME 
 
5.1  Income from lettings 
5.2  Income from fees and charges 
5.3  Income from fund raising activities 
5.4  Income from the sale of assets 
5.5  Administrative procedures for the collection of income 
5.6  Purposes for which income may be used 
 
6. THE CHARGING OF SCHOOL BUDGET SHARES 
             
6.1  General provision 
6.1.1  Charging of salaries to schools budgets 
6.2  Circumstances in which charges may be made 
6.3  Charges by schools to the LA 

Page 35



P a g e  | 5 

 

   

 
7. TAXATION 
 
7.1  Value Added Tax 
7.2  Payments to individuals claiming to be self employed 
 

Page 36



P a g e  | 6 

 

   

8. THE PROVISION OF SERVICES AND FACILITIES BY THE LA 
 
8.1  Provision of services from centrally retained budgets 
8.2  Timescales for the provision of services bought back from the LA using 

delegated budgets 
8.2.1  Packaging 
8.3  Service level agreements 
8.4  Teachers Pensions 
 
9. PFI/PPP CLAUSES 
 
10. INSURANCE 
 
11. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
11.1  Right of access to information 
11.2  Liability of governors 
11.3  Governors expenses 
11.4  Responsibility for legal costs 
11.5  Health and Safety 
11.6  Right of attendance for Chief Finance Officer 
11.7  ‘Whistleblowing’ 
11.8  Special Educational Needs 
11.9  Child Protection 
 
 
12. COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 
ANNEX A: Schools to which the scheme applies 
ANNEX B Provision of financial information and reports 
ANNEX C: Licensed Deficit Scheme for Schools with Delegated Budgets 
ANNEX D: Whistleblowing Policy 
ANNEX E  Responsibility for redundancy and early retirement costs 

Page 37



P a g e  | 7 

 

   

THE OUTLINE SCHEME 
 
SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Funding Framework 
 
The funding framework which replaces Local Management of Schools is based on the 
legislative provisions in sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 
1998. 
 
The Secretary of State may by a direction revise the whole or any part of the scheme 
as from such date as may be specified in the direction. In order to make a directed 
revision to schemes, the Secretary of State is required, by provisions in the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998, to consult the relevant local authorities and 
other interested parties. 
 
Under this legislation, Local Authorities determine for themselves the size of their 
Schools Budget and their non-schools education budget- although at a minimum the 
full amount of the Dedicated Schools Grant must be appropriated to the schools 
budget.  
 
The categories of expenditure that fall within the two budgets are prescribed under 
regulations made by the Secretary of State, but included within the two, taken 
together, is all expenditure, direct and indirect, on an authority's maintained schools 
except for capital and certain miscellaneous items. 
 
The LA may retain funding for certain purposes1. The amounts to be retained 
centrally are decided by the LA concerned, subject to any limits or conditions 
(including gaining the approval of their School Forum or the Secretary of State in 
certain instances) as prescribed by the Secretary of State. The balance of the Local 
School Budget left after deduction of centrally retained funds is termed the Individual 
Schools Budget (ISB). 
 
Expenditure items in the non-schools education budget must be retained centrally 
(although earmarked allocations may be made to schools). 
 
LAs must distribute amounts from their ISB amongst their maintained schools using a 
formula which accords with regulations made by the Secretary of State, and enables 
the calculation of a budget share for each maintained school. This budget share is 
then delegated to the Governing Body of the school concerned2.  
 
The Act3 requires the financial controls within which delegation works to be set out in 
a scheme made by the LA and approved by the Schools Forum. All revisions to the 
                                                
1 These purposes are defined in regulations made by the Secretary of State under s.45A of the School Standards 

and Framework Act 1998. 
2 Unless the school is a new school which has not yet received a delegated budget, or the right to a delegated 

budget has been suspended in accordance with s.51 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 Act. 
3 S.48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 

Page 38



P a g e  | 8 

 

   

scheme must also be approved by the Schools Forum, though the authority may 
apply to the Secretary of State for approval in the event of the forum rejecting a 
proposal or approving it subject to modifications that are not acceptable to the 
authority. This document forms the required scheme for this LA 
 
Subject to provisions of this scheme, governing bodies of schools may spend budget 
shares for the purposes of their school. They may also spend budget shares on any 
additional purposes prescribed by the Secretary of State4.  
 
An LA may suspend a school's right to a delegated budget if the provisions of the 
school financing scheme (or rules applied by the scheme) have been substantially or 
persistently breached, or if the budget share has not been managed satisfactorily.5 
 
The LA is obliged to publish each year a statement setting out details of its planned 
Schools Budget and other expenditure on children’s services, showing the amounts 
to be centrally retained and funding delegated to schools.; 
 
After each financial year the LA must publish a statement showing outturn 
expenditure at both central level and for each school, and the balances held in 
respect of each school.  
 
The detailed publication requirements for financial statements and for schemes are 
set out in directions issued by the Secretary of State, but each school must have 
access to  each year's budget and out-turn statements so far as they relate to that 
school or central expenditure. 
 
Regulations also require a local authority to publish their scheme and any revisions 
to it on a website accessible to the general public, by the date that any revisions 
come into force, together with a statement that the revised scheme comes into force 
on that date. 
 
1.2 The role of the scheme 
 
This scheme sets out the financial relationship between the LA and the maintained 
schools which it funds. It contains requirements relating to financial management 
and associated issues, which are binding on both the LA and on the schools. 
 
1.2.1 1.3 Application of the scheme to the LA and maintained schools 
 
From 1 April 2007 this scheme applies to all community, nursery, voluntary, 
foundation (including trust), community special and foundation special schools 

                                                
4 In regulations made under s.50 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Section 50 has been 

amended to provide that amounts spent by a governing body on providing community facilities or services 

under section 27 of the Education Act 2002 are treated as if they were amounts spent for the purposes of the 

school (s50(3A) of the Act. 
5 A school's right to a delegated budget share may also be suspended for other reasons (s.17 of the SSAF Act 

1998). 
 

Page 39



P a g e  | 9 

 

   

(including trust) and PRU’s maintained by the LA. (As listed in Annex A). The scheme 
will also apply to any new maintained schools which open after 1 April 2007.  
 
This scheme does not apply to academy schools or maintained schools situated in 
the authority’s area which are maintained by another authority.  
 
1.4 3 Publication of the scheme 
 
The LA will publish the scheme and any amendments to it in a manner they 
determine appropriate.  
 
The publication requirements are contained in the regulations. The scheme must be 
published on a website which is accessible to the general public and that any revised 
version must be published by the date the revisions come into force, together with a 
statement that the revised scheme comes into force on that date. 
 
1.4 Revision of the scheme 
 
Any proposed revisions to the scheme will be the subject of consultation with the 
Schools Forum for approval by those forum members representing maintained 
schools. 
 
Any proposed revisions to the scheme will be subject to a consulation process with 
the governing body and headteacher of every school maintained by the authority.  
Following consultation,  an updated scheme will be presented to Schools Forum for 
approval.           
 
Where the schools forum does not approve the proposed revisions or where 
modifications are not supported by the authority, the authority may apply to the 
secretary of state for approval.    
 
It is also possible for the Secretary of State to make directed revisions to 

schemes after consultation. Such revisions become part of the scheme from 

the date of the direction 

 
 
1.5 Delegation of powers to the Headteacher 
 
Subject to the requirement that the first formal budget plan of each financial year  
and the second budget plan must be approved by the Governing Body or a 
committee of the Governing Body, each Governing body is asked to consider the 
extent to which it wishes to delegate its financial powers to the Headteacher, and to 
record its decision (and any revisions) in the minutes of the Governing Body. 
 
The LA has no wish to impose uniformity on schools but considers that the following 
level of delegation to Headteachers is desirable: 
 
Governors adopt a scheme of delegation devolving defined responsibilities for day to 

Page 40



P a g e  | 10 

 

   

day financial decisions to the Headteacher. 
 
Any virement should either be authorised by the Head or Chair of Governors. It is 
recommended that all transfers valued at £1,000 or more are made by the Chair of 
Governors and any others by the Head. The Head however, must report to 
governors, if he/she makes a budget virement because the overall responsibility for 
managing the school's budget ultimately rests with the Governing Body.   
 
Other guidance is included in the Schools Finance Manual. 
 
 
 
1.7 Maintenance of Schools 
 
The LA is responsible for maintaining the schools covered by the scheme. This 
includes the duty of defraying all the expenses of maintaining them (except, in the 
case of a voluntary aided school where some of the expenses are, by statute, 
payable by the Governing Body). Part of the way an LA maintains schools is through 
the funding system put in place under sections 45 to 53 of the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998.  

Page 41



P a g e  | 11 

 

   

SECTION 2: FINANCIAL CONTROLS & AUDIT 
 
 
2.1 Application of financial controls to schools 
 

In managing their delegated budgets schools must abide by the LA's requirements 
for financial controls and monitoring.  

Certain of these are directly referred to in this scheme while others are included in 
the following documents already sent to schools as part of the existing Local 
Management of Schools Scheme: 
 

 Schools’ Finance Manual  
 Council's Standing Orders,  
 Council’s Financial Regulations 

 
As far as is possible schools will be given freedom to exercise choice which is 
compatible with exercising management autonomy over their budgets.   
 
Lewisham will seek only to impose regulations which are consistent with the need for 
accountability and control over expenditure of public funds.  
 

The Council's Standing Orders, financial regulations and financial procedures ensure 
the control of expenditure within a framework of devolved management and fully 
delegated budgets. The School Finance Manual sets out detailed guidance for schools 
in all financial matters and will be updated as necessary. 

Schools will be required to 

a)  Ensure that there are appropriate controls in place authorising 
expenditure and obtaining value for money, to ensure all decisions 
support the delivery of effective resource management. 

b)  Maintain accurate records of all income and expenditure transactions, 

c)  Provide the LA with copies of accounts, records, information and other 
relevant documents as required (this includes provision of information 
to Internal and External Audit, HM Revenue and Customs, etc). 

 

Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Director of Corporate 
Resources is responsible for the probity and regularity of Lewisham's financial 
activities.  The Director of Financial Services has authority to act on their behalf in 
most instances relating to the financial affairs of the Directorate of Children and 
Young People.  The Director of Financial Services  will have the right to intervene in 
the financial affairs of schools where there are concerns about compliance with 
financial regulations or other guidance set out in the Schools Finance Manual. 
 

Page 42



P a g e  | 12 

 

   

 

 
2.1.2 a Provision of financial information and reports 
 

Schools are required to provide the LA with details of forecast and actual expenditure 
and income, in a form and at times determined by the LA. During each year, schools 
will be required to submit financial and other returns to the LA on a regular basis 
(e.g. monthly, termly or annually) as set out in the Schools Finance Manual. 

 
Schools must provide the LA with financial information and reports as set out in 
Annex B, in a format and at intervals determined by the Director of Financial 
Services. Financial Reports must be accompanied by an authorisation cover sheet, 
signed by the Head and Chair of Governors (where necessary, as indicated on the 
authorisation sheet). 
 
Any additional reports / information required by the LA, not included within Annex B 
above, will be subject to a separate notification to which schools must comply. 
 
 
2.1.2b Challenge of School Financial Performance 
 
The Local Authority has a duty to ensure the effective management of resources by 
schools. To this end we require schools to submit returns as mentioned above and 
listed at Annex B. All submissions must be completed in a timely manner and should 
be accurate. The Authority has a duty to challenge schools financial performance and 
will monitor and check school financial returns as part of the challenge process. 
 
Where the Authority has concerns over the financial management of a school, they 
may require submission of financial information and reports from that school on a 
more frequent basis than that set out in Annex B. The school will be notified of such 
requirements if necessary. 
 
 
2.1.3 Payment of salaries; payment of bills 
 
The procedures for these will vary according to the choices schools make about the 
holding of bank accounts and the buying back of the LA’s payroll system.  
  
The procedures which apply to the different choices made by schools are as set out 
in the following documents: 
 

 Schools Finance Manual 
 Personnel Guide for Schools 
 Guidance for Schools on Personnel and Payroll Documentation 

 
 
Where a School choses to purchase services outside of the LA such as payroll, the 

Page 43



P a g e  | 13 

 

   

school will continue to be responsible for providing appropriate information as 
required by the LA.  The governing body may incur additional cost as such which 
may be chargeable to the schools delegated budget share.    
 
 
2.1.4 Control of assets 
 
Each school must maintain an inventory of its moveable non-capital assets, in a form 
determined by the LA, and setting out the basic authorisation procedures for disposal 
of assets. 
 

The format of the required inventory for such assets with a value in excess of 
£1,000 and the basic authorisation procedures for disposal of assets is as set 
out in the Schools Finance Manual.  
The format of the required inventory for such assets with a value of £1,000 or 
less shall be determined by the school. Schools are encouraged to 
register anything that is portable and attractive, such as a camera” 

 
Assets of the school which are to be disposed of by sale or destruction must be 
appropriately authorised for disposal and, where significant, should be sold following 
Competitive tender. Specific instructions for obtaining consent and notifying disposals 
are included in the Financial Procedure Manual for Maintained Schools. 
 
2.1.5 Accounting Policies (including year-end procedures) 
 
Schools must abide by procedures issued by the LA in relation to accounting policies 
and year-end procedures. These procedures are as set out in the Schools Finance 
Manual. 

 
2.1.6 Writing off of debts 
 
The writing off of debts must be in accordance with the local authority financial 
regulations. A debt should not be considered for write-off until the school has 
exhausted the recovery procedures as set out in the Financial Procedure Manual for 
Maintained Schools. 
 
Governing bodies are only authorised to write off debts up to a level stipulated by 
the Chief Finance Officer. It is proposed that this level is £1,000. In the case of 
larger debts the school must carry out the following procedure:  
 
The school must consult with the Group Finance Manager for Children and Young 
People and provide sufficient details of the debt and background to it as may be 
requested, to allow a decision to be taken. 
  

 
1) The Director of Financial Services  shall have the power to write off debts 
not exceeding £5,000. 
 

Page 44



P a g e  | 14 

 

   

2) The Director of Corporate Resources shall have the power to write off of 
debts exceeding £5,000. 
 

NB Any debt written off will be charged to the school's budget share if appropriate. 
All non-delegated debt to be written off shall not be charged to delegated budgets. 
 
2.2 Basis of accounting 
 
Reports and Accounts furnished to the LA must be on an accruals basis for year end 
returns. 
 
Schools should have a financial management information system which meets their 
requirements. The system adopted must be capable of producing the requisite 
reports and returns for the LA fulfil its statutory obligations. 
 
The LA requires schools to submit: 
 

 VAT return at end of the each month, including supporting documentation. 
 Bank reconciliations, including supporting documentation for September and 

March. 
 Trial Balance as at end of the financial year. 
 Details of the expenditure and income by CFR incurred locally and centrally 

during the financial year. 
 CFR return as at end of the financial year. 

 
The returns to the LA must be based on the CIPFA code of practice in that they must 
be submitted on an accruals basis i.e. ‘income and expenditure’. This convention 
requires that expenditure incurred, but not paid for in an accounting period, is 
brought into account as a creditor and income due, for which no cash has been 
received, is brought into account as a debtor. 
 
The current Consistent Financial Reporting (CFR) Regulations (S.I. 2012/674), came 
into force on 31st March 2012, formalise CFR policy previously approved by Ministers. 
The regulations set out the statutory duties of schools and LAs to submit annual 
returns in the appropriate CFR format by specified dates. 
 
 
2.3 Submission of budget plans 
 
Each school is required to submit a governing body approved budget plan to the LA 
by the 15th June of each year.  In exceptional cases and at the discretion of the LA 
the submission deadline may be extended to the 30th June.   The date will be notified 
to the schools when the level of the budget is determined by the LA. 
 
The budget plan’s must cover a three year period.  Schools are encouraged to 
undertake longer term planning for their local forecasting needs.  
 
The budget plan must show the school’s intentions for expenditure in the current 

Page 45



P a g e  | 15 

 

   

financial year and the assumptions underpinning the budget plan.  
 
The budget plans should also include non financial data and performance statistics as 
advised by the Department for Education.  This will include data such as pupil 
projections, staffing ratio’s etc.  The LA shall provide appropriate templates for 
completion and return         
 
When drawing up their budget plan, schools may take full account of estimated 
deficits/surpluses at the previous 31 March, or actuals where known. 
 
The format of the budget plan and supporting data should be as set out in the 
Schools Annual Budget Plan template which will be sent to schools with the annual 
notification of budget shares. 
 
The LA may also require the submission of revised plans where the LA deems it 
necessary. Such revised plans shall not be required at intervals of less than three 
months. 
 
The LA in agreement with Schools Forum has supported the need for all schools to 
provide an updated budget plan following the October pupil count.  Schools will be 
required to refresh the first submission based on any changes arising from the pupil 
count data and any assumption updates.  The second budget plan will be required 
for submission by the 15th November.  In exceptional circumstances, and in 
agreement with the LA  In exceptional cases and at the discretion of the LA the 
submission deadline may be extended to the 30th November. 
 
The LA will supply schools with all school income and expenditure data which it holds 
and which is necessary to efficient planning by schools, and an annual statement 
detailing the times during the year when this information will be available. 
 
 
2.3.1 Submission of Financial Forecasts 
 
The LA will require schools to provide budgets for the years they have received 
funding. These budgets will be used by the LA in conjunction with its "balance 
control mechanism" (see 4.2), as well as used to identify potential deficits. 
 
2.4 Efficiency and Value For Money    School Resource Management” 
 
Schools must seek to achieve efficiencies and value for money, to optimise the use 
of their resources and to invest in teaching and learning, taking into account the 
Authority’s purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements.  
 
It is for heads and governors to determine at school level how to secure better value 
for money. 
 
 
 

Page 46



P a g e  | 16 

 

   

Schools are required to manage their resources to maximise pupil outcomes. Taking 
into account the purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements. 
 
Schools must seek to achieve effective management of resources and value for 
money, to optimise the use of their resources and to invest in teaching and learning, 
taking into account the authority’s purchasing, tendering and contracting, 
requirements. 
 
It is for heads and governors to determine at school level how to optimise the use of 
resources and maximise value for money. 
 
There are significant variations in the effective management of resources between 
similar schools, and so it is important for schools to review their current expenditure, 
compare it to other schools and think about how to make improvements. 
 
 
2.5 Virement  
 
Schools are free to vire between budget heads in the expenditure of their budget 
shares as long as this does not impair the exercise of statutory duties. Governors are 
advised to establish criteria for virements and financial limits above which the 
approval of the governors is required. 
 
A governing body may vire resources between budget headings in the expenditure process 
provided that such transactions are within the total approved budget share for the school. 
 
Financial limits must be laid down by the governing body together with the authorisation 
required to vire funds between budget headings. 
 
 

2.6 Audit: General 
 
Schools are required to cooperate with, and provide access to all School records to, 
both auditors employed by the LA (internal audit) and auditors appointed to audit the 
LA itself (external audit). 
 
An audit must take place within a three year period.  
 
In regard to internal audit, all schools come within the audit regime determined by 
the LA. Details of this are set out in the Schools Finance Manual. 
 
In relation to external audit all schools come within the LA external audit. 
 
2.7 Separate external audits 
 
In instances where a school wishes to seek an additional source of assurance at its 
own expense, a Governing Body is permitted to spend funds from its budget share to 
obtain external audit certification of its accounts, separate from any LA internal or 
external audit process. Where a school chooses to seek such an additional audit it 

Page 47



P a g e  | 17 

 

   

does not remove the requirement that the school must also cooperate with the LA’s 
internal and external auditors. 
 
2.8 Audit of voluntary and private funds 
 
In addition to the normal internal and external audits, schools must provide audit 
certificates in respect of any voluntary and private funds they hold and of the 
accounts of any trading organisations controlled by the school.  
 
The Consistent Financial Reporting framework requires that private funds under the 
control of the Governing Body be included. 
 
The procedures for furnishing these audit certificates and advice on the handling of 
such voluntary and private funds is set out in the Schools Finance Manual 
 
2.9 Register of business interests 
 
The Governing Body of each school is required to establish a register which lists for 
each member of the Governing Body, the Headteacher and any staff with financial 
responsibilities any business interests they or any member of their immediate family 
have; to keep the register up to date with notification of changes and through annual 
review of entries, and to make the register available for inspection by governors, 
staff, parents and the LA. 
 
2.10 Purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements 
 
Schools are required to abide by the LA's financial regulations and standing orders in 
purchasing, tendering and contracting matters6.  This should include a requirement 
to assess in advance, where relevant, the health and safety competence of 
contractors, taking account of the LA’s policies and procedures 
 

Schools are required to abide by the authority’s financial rules and standing orders in 
purchasing, tendering and contracting matters. This include a requirement to assess 
in advance, where relevant, the health and safety competence of contractors, taking 
account of the authority’s policies and procedures. 

However, the scheme should also contain a provision which has the effect of 
disapplying from schools any provision of those rules or standing orders which would 
require them: 

                                                
6However, any section of the LA's financial regulations and standing orders shall not apply if it requires schools: 

a. to do anything incompatible with any of the provisions of this scheme, or any statutory provision, or 

any EU Procurement Directive; 

b. to seek LA officer countersignature for any contracts for good or services for a value below £60,000 

in any one year; 

c. to select suppliers only from an approved list; 

d. to seek fewer than three tenders in respect of any contract with a value exceeding £10,000 in any one 

year. 

 

Page 48



P a g e  | 18 

 

   

 to do anything incompatible with any of the provisions of the scheme, or any 
statutory provision, or any EU procurement directive 

 to seek local authority officer countersignature for any contracts for goods or 
services for a value below £60,000 in any one year 

 to select suppliers only from an approved list 

 or would permit schools to seek fewer than three tenders or quotations in 
respect of any contract with a value exceeding £10,000 in any one year, 
subject to specific listed exceptions 

The fact that an authority contract has been let in accordance with EU procurement 
procedures does not in itself make it possible to bind a school into being part of that 
contract. For the purposes of the procurement directives schools are viewed as 
discrete units. 

The countersignature requirement should be applied sensibly by authorities and 
schools alike, avoiding attempts to artificially aggregate or disaggregate orders to 
avoid or impose the requirement. 

Schools may seek advice on a range of compliant deals via Buying for schools. 

 
 
2.11 Application of contracts to schools 
 
Schools have the right to opt out of LA contracts.   
 
Although governing bodies are empowered under paragraph 3 of schedule 1 to the 
Education Act 2002 to enter into contracts, in most cases they do so on behalf of the 
authority as maintainer of the school and the owner of the funds in the budget share 
(this is the main reason for allowing authorities to require authority counter-signature 
of contracts exceeding a certain value). 
 
Other contracts may be made solely on behalf of the governing body, when the 
governing body has clear statutory obligations; for example, contracts made by aided 
or foundation schools for the employment of staff. 
 
2.12 Central funds and earmarking 
 
The LA is authorised to make sums available to schools from central funds, in the 
form of allocations which are additional to and separate from the schools’ budget 
shares. Such allocations shall be subject to conditions setting out the purpose or 
purposes for which the funds may be used: and while these conditions need not 
preclude virement (except, of course, where the funding is supported by a specific 
grant which the LA itself is not permitted to vire), this should not be carried to the 
point of assimilating the allocations into the school’s budget share.  
 
Such earmarked funding from centrally retained funds is to be spent only on the 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/buying-for-schools


P a g e  | 19 

 

   

purposes for which it is given, or on other budget heads for which earmarked 
funding is given, and is not to be vired into the school’s budget share.  
 
The LA may require earmarked funds to be returned to the LA if not spent within any 
period stipulated by the LA over which schools are allowed to use the funding. 
 
In order that schools may demonstrate compliance with this requirement, procedures 
are set out in the Schools Finance Manual, together with guidance on specific 
schemes e.g. Literacy and Numeracy projects; National Grid for Learning. 
 
The LA will not make any deduction, in respect of interest costs to the LA, from 
payments to schools of devolved specific or special grant. 
 
2.13 Spending for the purposes of the school 
 
Governing bodies are free7 to spend budget shares for the purposes of the school, 
subject to any provisions of this scheme. “Purposes of the school7a” includes 
spending on pupils at other maintained schools or academies and on community 
facilities.  
 
 
2.14 Capital spending from budget shares 
 
Governing bodies are permitted to use their budget shares to meet the cost of capital 
expenditure on the school premises8.  
 
If the expected capital expenditure from the budget share in any one year will 
exceed £15,000, the Governing Body must notify the LA and take into account any 
advice from the Executive Director for Children and Young People as to the merits of 
the proposed expenditure.  
 
Where the premises are owned by the LA, or the school has voluntary controlled 
status, then the Governing Body shall seek the consent of the LA to the proposed 
works, however such consent can only be withheld on health and safety grounds 8a 
 
 
2.15 Notice of Concern 
 

The LA may issue a notice of concern to the Governing Body of any school it 
maintains where, in the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer and the Executive 
Director of Children and Young People, the school has failed to comply with 

                                                
7 In accordance with s.50(3) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (the SSAF Act 1998) 

7a Under section 50(3)(b) the Secretary of State may prescribe additional purposes for which expenditure of the budget share may occur. 

They have done so in the School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes)(England) Regulations 2002 (SI 2002/378), which have been 

amended by the School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2010 (SI 2010/190). 
8 This includes expenditure by the governing body of a voluntary aided school on work which is their responsibility under paragraph 3 of 

Schedule 3 of the SSAF Act 1998. 
8a School Premises (England) Regulations 2012, the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992, the Regulatory Reform 

(Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Equality Act 2010, and the Building Regulations 2010. 

Page 50



P a g e  | 20 

 

   

any provisions of the scheme, or where actions need to be taken to safeguard 
the financial position of the LA or the school.  

 
Such a notice will set out the reasons and evidence for it being made and may 
place on the Governing Body restrictions, limitations or prohibitions in relation 
to the management of funds delegated to it. 
These may include: 

 
 insisting that relevant staff undertake appropriate training to address 

any identified weaknesses in the financial management of the school; 

 insisting that an appropriately trained/qualified person chairs the 
finance committee of the Governing Body; 

 placing more stringent restrictions or conditions on the day to day 
financial management of a school than the scheme requires for all 
schools; 

 insisting on regular financial monitoring meetings at the school 
attended by LA officers; 

 requiring a Governing Body to buy into the LA’s finance SLA or any 
other recommended by the LA. 

 requiring a Governing Body to buy into a LA’s recommended financial 
management systems; and 

 imposing restrictions or limitations on the manner in which a school 
manages extended school activity funded from within its delegated 
budget share – for example by requiring a school to submit income 
projections and/or financial monitoring reports on such activities. 

The notice will clearly state what these requirements are and the way in which 
and the time by which such requirements must be complied with in order for 
the notice to be withdrawn.  It will also state the actions that the LA may take 
where the Governing Body does not comply with the notice. 

 
It should be noted that if a Notice of Concern is issued in relation to financial 
controls, this may affect the judgement of whether the School should be placed in LA 
category 4a (notice to improve) 
 
 
 
2.16 Schools Financial Value Standard. 
 
All local authority maintained schools (including nursery schools and pupil referral 
units (PRUs) that have a delegated budget) must demonstrate compliance with the 
Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) and complete the assessment form on an 
annual basis. It is for the school to determine at which time of the year they wish to 

Page 51



P a g e  | 21 

 

   

complete the form. The form should be submitted in line with the LA deadline which 
must be before the end of the financial year. 
 

Governing bodies have formal responsibility for the financial management of their 
schools, and so the standard is primarily aimed at governors. Governors must 
demonstrate compliance through the submission of the SFVS assessment form 
signed by the Chair of Governors.     
 

 The standard consists of questions which governing bodies should formally 
discuss annually with the head teacher and senior staff. 

 
 The questions which form the standard are in sections A to D.  Each question 

requires an answer of Yes, In Part, or No.   
 

o If the answer is Yes, the comments column can be used to indicate the 
main evidence on which the governing body based its answer.   

o If the answer is No or In Part, the column should contain a summary of 
the position and proposed remedial action.     

 In Section E, governors should summarise remedial actions and the timetable 
for reporting back.  Governors should ensure that each action has a specified 
deadline and an agreed owner. Governors must monitor the progress of these 
actions to ensure that all actions are cleared within specified deadlines. 

 
 The governing body may delegate the consideration of the questions to a 

finance or other relevant committee, but a detailed report should be provided 
to the full governing body and the chair of governors must sign the completed 
form.  

 
 The school must send a copy of the signed standard to their local authority’s 

finance department. 
 

 There is no prescription of the level of evidence that the governing body 
should require.  The important thing is that governors are confident about 
their responses.   

 
 
 
2.17 Fraud 
 
All schools must have a robust system of controls to safeguard themselves against 
fraudulent or improper use of public money and assets.  
 
The governing body and head teacher must inform all staff of school policies and 
procedures related to fraud and theft, the controls in place to prevent them and the 
consequences of breaching those controls. This information must also be included in 
the induction for new school staff and governors. 

Page 52



P a g e  | 22 

 

   

SECTION 3: AVAILABILITY OF CASH FOR LOCAL EXPENDITURE; BANKING 
ARRANGEMENTS 
 
 
3.1 Frequency of cash advances 
 
The LA will make available to schools sufficient cash to cover their local expenditure 
(that amount of expenditure made from schools’ bank accounts). Advances of cash 
will be considered and, where necessary, will be made into schools’ bank accounts by 
the 18th of April each year. 
 
3.2 Amount of cash advances 
 
The amount of the cash advance will be calculated with the aim of providing 
sufficient cash to cover local expenditure and will be based primarily on the amount 
of local expenditure in the previous year, with increased regard given to the level of 
spend in the new year in the calculation of the January advance. Schools will receive 
the majority of their annual requirement in the April cash advance (unless the LA is 
constrained by external factors, e.g. limits placed by the LA’s banking contract). 
 
3.3 Ad hoc cash advances 
 
Schools are not permitted credit without express permission from the Secretary of 
State. This includes overdrafts. All schools should be completing regular cash flow 
forecasts to assess whether their bank accounts contain sufficient cash to cover 
anticipated expenditure. 
 
Any school which is forecasting that their school bank account will be overdrawn 
should contact the LA to request an additional cash advance. A cash flow forecast 
will be required. 
 
 
3.4 Late cash advances 
 
If a school incurs costs as a consequence of insufficient cash in its bank account that 
results from a late or erroneous cash advance, the LA shall meet those costs that it 
deems reasonable. 
 
 
3.5 Bank and building society accounts 
 
All schools may have an external bank account into which their budget share 
instalments (as determined by other provisions) are paid. Where schools have such 
accounts they shall be allowed to retain all interest payable on the account unless 
they choose to have an account within an LA contract which makes other provision.  
 
New bank account arrangements may only be made with effect from the beginning 
of each financial year.  

Page 53



P a g e  | 23 

 

   

 
When a school opens an external bank account, the LA shall, upon request from the 
school, transfer immediately to the account an amount agreed by both school and LA 
as the estimated surplus balance held by the LA in respect of the schools budget 
share. This transfer is made on the basis that there shall be a subsequent correction 
when accounts for the relevant year are closed. 
 
 
3.5.1 Restrictions on accounts 
 
Accounts may only be held for the purpose of receiving budget share payments, at 
the following banks or building societies.  
 
Santander UK plc (including Alliance and Leicester, Bradford and Bingley and Abbey National) 
Lloyds (including TSB, Halifax, Cheltenham and Gloucester, Bank of Scotland, Scottish Widows) 
Barclays (including Standard Life) 
Co-operative (including Britannia Building Society, Smile and Unity Trust) 
HSBC (including First Direct) 
Royal Bank of Scotland (including National Westminster) 
 
Any school closing an account used to receive its budget share and opening another 
must select the new bank or building society from the approved list, even if the 
closed account was not with an institution on that list. 
 
Schools having accounts with financial institutions other than those listed above prior 
to April 1st, 2007 are permitted to retain those accounts. 
 
Any School wishing to change Banks must seek prior approval from the Local 
Authority. 
 
Schools are allowed to have accounts for budget share purposes which are in the 
name of the school rather than the LA9. However, the LA may require that the 
account mandate shows the LA to be the owner of the funds in the account; that it is 
entitled to receive statements; and that it can take control of the account if the 
school’s right to a delegated budget is suspended. 
 
The LA will continue with the arrangements already negotiated whereby the accounts 
are in the name of the LA but specific to each school, for schools that wish to use 
such arrangements. 
 
The LA may restrict the signatories for schools’ bank accounts as per provisions in 
the Schools Finance Manual, however such approved signatories shall include at least 
LA employees and school employees. 
 
The LA shall not restrict the use of direct debits or standing orders for a bank 
account operated by schools, except where the account is part of an LA contract. 

                                                
9 Money paid by the LA and held in such accounts remains LA property until spent (s.49(5) of the Act). 

Page 54



P a g e  | 24 

 

   

 
3.6 Borrowing by schools   THIS APPEARS TO BE DUPLICATED SEE 4.8 
 
Governing bodies may borrow money only with the written permission of the 
Secretary of State. See section 4.10 for the provisions for licensed deficits. 
 
3.6 Other provisions 
 
The LA has formulated separate detailed rules and guidance in respect of other 
aspects of banking arrangements which are included in the Schools Finance Manual.  

Page 55



P a g e  | 25 

 

   

SECTION 4: THE TREATMENT OF SURPLUS AND DEFICIT BALANCES 
ARISING IN RELATION TO BUDGET SHARES 
 
 
4.1  The right to carry forward surplus balances 
 
Schools may carry forward from one financial year to the next any surplus/deficit in 
net expenditure relative to the school's budget share for the year plus/minus any 
balance brought forward from the previous year. 
 
4.2   Reporting on and control of the use of balances  

(Balance control mechanism) 
 

Lewisham in agreement with Schools Forum has suspended the use of a balance 
control mechanism.  This policy will be kept under review. 
 
Schools will however be required to specify their surpluses over the following 
category as part of the closure of accounts process. 
    

 Capital works. 
 Savings made to make enhancements to new builds from the Building Schools 

for the Future programmes and Private Finance Initiatives. 
 To cover funding shortfalls for future temporary drops in pupil numbers.  
 Building up funds to dampen the effects of step increases in pupil numbers 

that occur in September but not funded until the next financial year. 
 Single status.  New Funds to support potentially unfunded directives e.g salary 

increases.  
 Holding the funds for joint schools collaboration project which run over more 

than one year.  
 Accruals that should have taken place but it was not possible to action them in 

time for closing the accounts.  
 Any administrative error in the accounts. 
 New Funds to support IT upgrade 

 New Funds to support restructures   

 
The balance control mechanism will be used to enable schools to agree plans for 
surplus balances with the Authority or re-distribute funds to achieve this aim.  
 
Surplus balances held by schools as permitted under this scheme are subject to the 
following restrictions with effect from 1 April 2007:  
 

a. The authority shall calculate by 31 May each year the surplus balance, if any, 
held by each school as at the preceding 31 March. For this purpose the 
balance will be the revenue balance (excluding any ring fenced grants) as 
reported to each school in writing by the authority. 
 

b. The authority shall deduct from the calculated balance any amounts for which 
the school has an accrual which could not be included in the schools accounts. 

Page 56



P a g e  | 26 

 

   

 
c. The authority shall then deduct from the resulting sum any amounts which the 

governing body of the school has declared to be assigned for specific purposes 
agreed with the authority. Amounts must not be retained beyond the 
agreed period without the consent of the authority. The authority must agree 
any changes to the assigned purpose. In doing so the authority will look at 
previous assignments and consider the needs of the school. 

 

 
d. if the result of steps a to c is a sum greater than 5% of the current year's 

budget share for secondary schools, 8% for primary and special schools, then 
the authority shall deduct from the current year's budget share an amount 
equal to the excess. This deduction will take place in a budget update in 
October of each year. 

 
The total of any amounts deducted from schools' budget shares by the authority 
under this provision are to be applied to the Schools Budget of the authority.  
 
If a school has excessive balance at the start of the year, provides plans to spend the 
sum, but still has an excess at the end of the year, this will be automatically capped.  
This is to be effective from 31st March 2010. 
 
4.2.1 The right to appeal 
 
There will be the right of appeal. An appeals panel of two School Forum members 
and the Executive Director for Children and Young People, or their representative will 
sit to consider appeals against the decision of School Forum. The decision of the 
appeals panel will be final. 
 

The Local Authority will only agree amounts for the following purposes 
unless exceptional circumstances occur  
 

 Capital works. 
 Savings made to make enhancements to new builds from the 

Building Schools for the Future programmes and Private Finance 
Initiatives. 

 To cover funding shortfalls for future temporary drops in pupil 
numbers.  

 Building up funds to dampen the effects of step increases in pupil 
numbers that occur in September but not funded until the next 
financial year. 

 Single status. 
 Holding the funds for joint schools collaboration project which run 

over more than one year.  
 Accruals that should have taken place but it was not possible to 

action them in time for closing the accounts.  
 Any administrative error in the accounts. 

Page 57



P a g e  | 27 

 

   

In determining the deductions in 4.2 above the LA will expect to draw upon 
information in the School Improvement Plan, the asset management plan and any 
other planning documents that the School Forum might agree over time. The process 
will be undertaken jointly between Finance and School Improvement Officers. 
 
 
 
 
4.2.2 Monitoring of approved plans  
 
Schools will be required to provide progress reports on the planned used of the 
excess balance. Schools may not vary the plan in terms of the use of funds or the 
agreed timetable without good and proper reason and the approval of the LA. If such 
approval is not given, the balance may be clawed back, subject to ratification by 
Schools Forum. 
 
4.3 Interest on surplus balances 
 
Balances held by the LA on behalf of schools will attract interest. 
 
4.4 Obligation to carry forward deficit balances 
 
Deficit balances will be carried forward by the deduction of the relevant amounts 
from the following year's budget share (see also 4.10) 
 
4.5 Planning for deficit budgets 
 
Schools may only plan for a deficit budget in accordance with the terms of para 4.9 
below. 
 
4.6 Charging of interest on deficit balances 
 
The LA shall charge interest on any unapproved deficit balances.  
 
The basis of the calculation of interest shall be as follows: 
 

 Deficit balance at start of year, multiplied by  
 The rate of interest used by the LA in calculating the interest due to be paid 

will be interest rate given on schools’ bank balances in credit + 1%. 
 
4.7 Writing off deficits 
 
The LA has no power to write off the deficit balance of any school. 
 
 
4.8 Balances of closing and replacement schools 
 
When a school closes, any balance (whether surplus or deficit) shall revert to the LA; 

Page 58



P a g e  | 28 

 

   

it cannot be transferred as a balance to any other school, unless it is to convert to an 
Academy under the provisions of the Academies Act 2010 which requires the LA to 
pay over the schools surplus to the successor academy. 
 
The LA may deduct any deficit balance from a closed school from any additional 
funding made available to a successor school, such as non-earmarked LA funding, 
but not from the ISB budget 
 
 
4.9 Borrowing for agreed purposes 
 
4.9 Borrowing by schools 
 
A Governing Body of a school may borrow money (which includes the use of finance 
leases) only with the written permission of the Secretary of State. The Secretary of 
State’s general position is that schools will only be granted permission for borrowing 
in exceptional circumstances. 
 
From time to time, however, the Secretary of State may introduce limited schemes in 
order to meet broader policy objectives. Borrowing under such dispensation may be 
permissible and would need to be notified to the Local Authority in advance of any 
application including the Salix scheme, which is designed to support energy saving. 
 
4.10 Licensed deficits  
 
It is not permissible for a Governing Body to set a deficit budget without the prior 
agreement of the Executive Director of Children and Young Peoples Service.  Any 
approval for a licensed deficit must be supported with a detailed recovery plan.  
 
A deficit recovery plan should not exceed 5% of the schools budget.  “Budget” for 
the purpose of this calculation is based on the Schools Delegated Budget Share plus 
supporting grants such as teachers pay.  Income such as locally derived, pupil 
premium and other grants are to be excluded from this calculation due to their 
volatile nature. 
 
A recovery plan must be provided by the governing body demonstrating its ability to 
set a balanced budget positon within a 3 year plan.  
 
The governing body of a school must take appropriate action as part of its longer 
term strategic planning to avoid a position of licensed deficit.  As part of the changes 
being introduced by the Secretary of State, governing bodies will be expected to 
demonstrate what actions have been taken to prevent the school from a deficit 
positon.   
 
Loans will not be used as a means of funding a deficit that has arisen because a 
school’s recurrent costs exceed its current income. 
 
Loans will only be used to assist schools in spreading the cost over more than one 

Page 59



P a g e  | 29 

 

   

year of large one-off individual items of a capital nature that have a benefit to the 
school lasting more than one financial or academic year. 
 
If loans are made to fund a deficit and a school subsequently converts to academy 
status, the Secretary of State will consider using the power under paragraph 13(4)(d) 
of Schedule 1 to the Academies Act 2010 to make a direction to the effect that such 
a loan does not transfer, either in full or part, to the new academy school. 
 
The general provision in para 3.6 above forbidding Governing bodies to borrow 
money shall not apply to schemes run by the LA as set out in the following sections: 
 
The LA will permit schools to plan for a deficit budget in particular circumstances. 
The funding to allow such a deficit budget shall be provided from the collective 
surplus of school balances held by the LA on behalf of schools and will pass to the 
school in the form of a loan 
 
The detailed arrangements applying to this scheme are set in the “Licensed Deficit 
Scheme for Schools" which is shown in Annex C. 
 
NB The maximum proportion of the collective balances held by the LA which will be 
used to back the arrangement, shall not exceed 40%.  
 
4.11 Loan/Innovation  Fund 
 
Background 
 
The Loan Fund seeks to change how major projects are implemented by allowing 
schools to incur the expenditure when a need is identified, then paying for the asset 
created or the school is facing a deficit budget situation.  
 
Schools may only borrow from the LA this is because any borrowing by a school 
counts as borrowing by the LA, which is regulated by government i.e. schools may 
not borrow independently from banks. 
 
Scheme Overview 
 
The Authority to operate a loan scheme for schools funded by the collective balances 
held by schools as per 4.10. 
 
All schools maintained by the LA will be eligible to apply for a loan facility that can be 
for the:  
 

- Purchase or replacement of equipment including computer equipment; 
- Full or part funding of premises projects;  
- Energy and environmental improvements;  
- If in the opinion of the Executive Director of Children Young People and 

Learning a school could not otherwise achieve its improvement targets (there 
will still be a requirement of the governing body to demonstrate repayment) 

Page 60



P a g e  | 30 

 

   

or  
- If in the opinion of the Executive Director of Children Young People and the 

Executive Director of Resources and Regeneration a school could not 
reasonably be expected to effect immediately the savings required as a result 
of a significant reduction in pupil numbers or financial costs (there will still be 
a requirement of the governing body to demonstrate repayment). 

 
The normal maximum loan will be up to 10% of the schools budget share. However, 
subject to a detailed business plan, the Authority may approve a loan in excess of 
this limit, provided it is satisfied that the school can meet the ongoing commitment.  
 
It is generally assumed that the loans will be between two and five years unless 
circumstances dictate otherwise.  
 
Equipment loans will normally be for a maximum period of three years. Only in 
exceptional cases will loans for equipment be extended to a maximum of five years. 
 
Other loans may be for longer and payments delayed 
  
Approval Arrangements 
 
 

 Loans between 0 to £500,000 must be approved by  the Executive Director of 
Children and Young People’s Services and the Director of Finance. 

 Loans over £500,000 will be approved by the Mayor and Cabinet following 
consultation with the Schools Forum.  

 
There will be no charge for arranging the loan or for early repayment of the loan. 
 
Loans to schools from the Loan Fund will not exceed 40% of the collective balances 
held by schools of the total.  
 
Any loan repayment remains the responsibility for the governing body to priorities 
repayment.  Any change is status for the school will require the loan to be repaid in 
full.   
 
 
 

Page 61



P a g e  | 31 

 

   

SECTION 5: INCOME 
 
 
Schools shall be able to retain income except in certain specified circumstances. 
 
5.1 Income from lettings 
 
Schools may retain income from lettings of the school premises which would 
otherwise accrue to the LA, subject to alternative provisions arising from any joint 
use or PFI agreements. Schools are permitted to cross-subsidise lettings for 
community and voluntary use with income from other lettings, provided there is no 
net cost to the budget share and that the governing body is satisfied that this will not 
interfere to a significant extent with the performance of any duties imposed on them 
by the Education Acts, including the requirement to conduct the school with a view 
to promoting high standards of educational achievement. Schools whose premises 
are owned by the LA shall be required to have regard to directions issued by the LA 
as to the use of school premises as permitted under the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 for various categories of schools 10. Any such income should not 
be paid into a school’s voluntary or private fund. 
 
 
5.2 Income from fees and charges 
 
Schools may retain income from fees and charges except where a service is provided 
by the LA from centrally retained funds. However, schools are required to have 
regard to any policy statements on charging produced by the LA from time to time. A 
summary of the current policy is included in the Schools Finance Manual. 
 
However, where land is held by a charitable trust, it will be for the school’s 
trustees to determine the use of any income generated by the land 
 
 
5.3 Income from fund-raising activities 
 
Schools may retain income from fund-raising activities. 
 
 
5.4 Income from the sale of assets 
 
Schools may retain the proceeds of sale of assets except in cases where the asset 
was purchased with non-delegated funds (in which case it should be for the LA to 
decide whether the school should retain the proceeds), or the asset concerned is 
land or buildings forming part of the school premises and is owned by the LA. 
 
 

                                                
10 The LA has limited powers to direct the use of Voluntary Aided schools premises, and no power to direct the 

use of Foundation Schools 

Page 62



P a g e  | 32 

 

   

5.5 Administrative procedures for the collection of income 
 
Because of the potential VAT implications of providing services which lead to fees 
and charges, fund raising activities and the sale of assets, the LA has established 
administrative procedures for the collection of income which are set out in the 
Schools Finance Manual. These procedures shall apply only to income which accrues 
to the LA and may be varied from time to time in the light of advice from the VAT 
authorities. 
 
5.6 Purposes for which income may be used 
 
Income from the sale of assets purchased with delegated funds may only be spent 
for the purposes of the school. 

Page 63



P a g e  | 33 

 

   

SECTION 6: THE CHARGING OF SCHOOL BUDGET SHARES 
 
 
6.1 General provision 
 
The LA must charge the salaries of schools based staff to the budget share of a 
school at actual cost. Otherwise, the budget share of a school may be charged by the 
LA without the consent of the Governing Body only in circumstances set out in 6.2 
below.  
 
The LA shall consult a school as to the intention to so charge, and shall notify a 
school when it has been done.  
 
Schools are reminded that the LA cannot act unreasonably in the exercise of any 
power given by this scheme, or it may be the subject of a direction under s.496 of 
the Education Act 1996.  
 
The LA shall make arrangements for a disputes procedure for such charges. 
 
6.1.1 Charging of salaries to schools budgets 
 
The LA shall charge salaries to school budgets on the basis of actual cost. 
 
 
6.2 Circumstances in which charges may be made 
 
6.2.1 Where premature retirement costs have been incurred without the prior written 
agreement of the LA to bear such costs (the amount chargeable being only the 
excess over any amount agreed by the LA). 
 
6.2.2 Other expenditure incurred to secure resignations where the school had not 
followed LA advice.  “Other expenditure incurred to secure resignations where there 
is good reason to charge this to the school (see Annex C)” 
 
6.2.3 Awards by courts and industrial tribunals against the LA, or out of court 
settlements, arising from action or inaction by the Governing Body contrary to the 
LA's advice. 
 
6.2.4 Expenditure by the LA in carrying out health and safety work  or capital 
expenditure for which the LA is liable where funds have been delegated to the 
Governing Body for such work, but the Governing Body has failed to carry out the 
required work. 
 
6.2.5 Expenditure by the LA incurred in making good defects in building work funded 
by capital spending from budget shares, where the premises are owned by the LA or 
the school has voluntary controlled status. 
 
6.2.6 Expenditure incurred by the LA in insuring its own interests in a school where 

Page 64



P a g e  | 34 

 

   

funding has been delegated but the school has failed to demonstrate that it has 
arranged cover at least as good as that which would be arranged by the LA. 
 
6.2.7 Recovery of monies due from a school for services provided to the school, 
where a dispute over the monies due has been referred to a disputes procedure set 
out in a service level agreement, and the result is that monies are owed by the 
school to the LA. 
 
6.2.8 Recovery of penalties imposed on the LA by HM Revenue and Customs, 
Environment Agency, the Contributions Agency or Teachers Pensions as a result of 
school negligence.  
 
6.2.9 Correction of LA errors in calculating charges to a budget share (e.g. pension 
deductions). 
 
6.2.10 Additional transport costs incurred by the LA arising from decisions by the 
Governing Body on the length of the school day, and failure to notify the LA of non-
pupil days resulting in unnecessary transport costs. 
 
6.2.11 Legal costs which are incurred by the LA because the Governing Body did not 
accept the advice of the LA (see also section 11.4). 
 
6.2.12 Costs of necessary health and safety training for staff employed by the LA, 
where funding for training has been delegated but the necessary training not carried 
out. 
 
6.2.13 Compensation paid to a lender where a school enters into a contract for 
borrowing beyond its legal powers, and the contract is of no effect. 
 
6.2.14 Cost of work done in respect of teacher pension remittance and records for 
schools using non-LA payroll contractors, the charge to be the minimum needed to 
meet the cost of the LA’s compliance with its statutory obligations. 
 
6.2.15 Costs incurred by the LA in securing provision specified in a statement of SEN 
where the Governing Body of a school fails to secure such provision despite the 
delegation of funds in respect of low cost high incidence SEN and/or specific funding 
for a pupil with high needs. 
 
6.2.16 Costs incurred by the LA where the school has failed to return information 
required by the LA on time, or where the information has to be corrected.  
 
6.2.17 Recovery of amounts spent from specific grants on ineligible purposes. 
 
6.2.18 Costs incurred by the LA as a result of the Governing Body being in breach of 
the terms of a contract. 
 
6.2.19 Costs incurred by the LA or another school as a result of a schools withdrawal 
from a cluster arrangement into which they entered voluntarily; this is to remove 

Page 65



P a g e  | 35 

 

   

disincentives to the employment of shared staff in clusters and partnerships. At 
present schools can agree to share the cost of a member of staff for, say, three 
years but one school can then withdraw without notice putting extra costs on the 
school actually employing the member of staff. 
 
6.2.20 Compensation for costs incurred by the LA if a school fails to pay a debt and 
which subsequently fall upon the LA to pay. This will include interest payments as 
per the Late Payment Of Commercial Debts Act 1998. 
 
6.2.21 Sums outstanding for 30 days or more, where the school has entered into a 
service level agreement (SLA) with the LA, but has failed to pay an amount due 
under the SLA and has not disputed the payment through the relevant contracts 
dispute procedure; or has where the dispute procedure has held the school to be 
liable for a sum and it has not paid. 
 
6.2.22 Sums outstanding for 30 days or more, where the school has entered into a 
contract managed by the LA, but has failed to pay an amount due under the contract 
and has not disputed the payment through the relevant contracts dispute procedure; 
or has where the dispute procedure has held the school to be liable for a sum and it 
has not paid. 
 
6.2.23 Cost incurred by the LA in securing education outside of the school for a pupil 
where a school has not taken the advice of the Local Authority regarding the timely 
admission of a pupil including those with SEN. 
 
6.2.24 Where the school has failed to notify the council of a change in circumstances 
of a member of staff and that this has resulted in an overpayment that is not 
recoverable the cost will be charged to the school. A debt recovery fee will also be 
charged if the employee has left the councils employment and a overpayment has 
been made. 
 
6.2.25 For the costs of dismissals, resignations and premature retirement,  
 
see Annex E  see Annex E  
 
6.3 Charges by schools to the LA 
 
Losses incurred by a school where the LA has failed to provide a service agreed 
between the school and the LA on time and this causes a direct financial loss to the 
school, or where there is an error which has to be corrected which causes a direct 
financial loss to the school.  
 

Examples of the circumstances which would be covered include:  

 failure by the LA to arrange for payment of instalments of budget shares in 
accordance with the published timetable, causing a school to incur interest on an 
overdraft, but not failure by the bank to process such payments (in this case, 

Page 66



P a g e  | 36 

 

   

redress should be sought from the bank). Compensation would cover the interest 
charge incurred. 

 failure to stop payment of a salary by the payroll section, if the correct 
notification has been received by the payroll section before the published 
deadline and if attempts to recover the overpayment of salary from the member 
of staff fail. It would not cover cases where the school had not sent in the correct 
notification, or where these were received after the published payroll deadline. 

 
Only direct losses will be covered. Where a delay by the LA causes administrative 
inconvenience, or means that a deadline for return of information by a school is not 
achievable, that deadline should be extended. 
 
Arrangements covering remedies and compensation for poor performance or non 
performance under service level agreements will be covered in those agreements. 
Where these overlap with this provision, only one compensation payment will be 
made. 
 
Losses due to policy decisions by the LA will not be compensated.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



P a g e  | 37 

 

   

SECTION 7: TAXATION 
 
 
7.1 VALUE ADDED TAX 
 
The LA has established procedures to enable schools to utilise the LA's ability to 
reclaim VAT on expenditure relating to non-business activity. These are set out in the 
Schools Finance Manual. 
 
Amounts reclaimed through these procedures will be passed back to the school.  
 
7.2 Payments to individuals claiming to be self-employed 
 
Schools are required to abide by procedures issued by the LA in connection with 
payments to individuals claiming to be self-employed. 
 
 

Page 68



P a g e  | 38 

 

   

SECTION 8: THE PROVISION OF SERVICES AND FACILITIES BY THE LA  
 
 
8.1: Provision of services from centrally retained budgets 
 
The LA shall determine on what basis services from centrally retained funds 
(including those for premature retirement compensation and redundancy pay, but 
excluding centrally funded premises and liability insurance) will be provided to 
schools, but the LA is debarred from discriminating in its provision of services on the 
basis of categories of schools except where (a) funding has been delegated to some 
schools only or (b) such discrimination is justified by differences in statutory duties. 
where this would be allowable under the school and early years finance 
regulations or the dedicated schools grant (DSG) conditions of grant 
 
8.2 Timescales for the provision of services bought back from the LA using 

delegated budgets 
 
The term of any arrangement with a school starting on or after 1 April 2007 to buy 
services or facilities from the LA (excluding those dealing with centrally funded 
premises and liability insurance) shall be limited to a maximum of three years from 
the inception of the scheme or the date of the agreement, whichever is the later, 
and periods not exceeding five years for any subsequent agreement relating to the 
same services, or five and seven years respectively for contracts for supply of 
catering services. 
 
Where a service is provided for which expenditure is not retainable centrally by the 
LA under the regulations made under section 45a of the Act, it must be offered at 
prices which are intended to generate income which is no less than the cost of 
providing those services. The total cost of the service must be met by the total 
income, even if schools are charged differentially. 
 
8.2.1 Packaging 
 
The LA may provide any services for which funding has been delegated. But where 
the LA is offering the service on a buyback basis it must do so in a way which does 
not unreasonably restrict schools' freedom of choice among the services available.  
 
8.3 Service level agreements 
 
8.3.1 If services or facilities are provided under a service level agreement - whether 
free or on a buyback basis - the terms of any such agreement starting on or after the 
inception of the scheme will be reviewed at least every three years if the agreement 
lasts longer than that. 
 
8.3.2 Services, if offered at all by the LA, shall be available on a basis which is not 
related to an extended agreement, as well as on the basis of such agreements. 
 
8.3.3 Service level agreements must be agreed one week before the beginning of a 

Page 69



P a g e  | 39 

 

   

financial year to be effective for that financial year and schools shall have at least 
one month prior to the agreement date to consider the terms of the agreement. 
 
8.4 Teachers’ Pensions 
 
In order to ensure that the performance of the duty on the LA to supply Teachers 
Pensions with information under the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 1997, the 
following conditions are imposed on the LA and governing bodies of all maintained 
schools covered by this Scheme in relation to their budget shares. 
 
The conditions only apply to governing bodies of maintained schools that have not 
entered into an arrangement with the LA to provide payroll services. 
 
A Governing Body of any maintained school, whether or not the employer of the 
teachers at such a school, which has entered into any arrangement or agreement 
with a person other than the LA to provide payroll services, shall ensure that any 
such arrangement or agreement is varied to require that person to supply salary, 
service and pensions data to the LA which the LA requires to submit its annual return 
of salary and service to Teachers' Pensions and to produce its audited contributions 
certificate.  The LA will advise schools each year of the timing, format and 
specification of the information required. A Governing Body shall also ensure that any 
such arrangement or agreement is varied to require that Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (A.V.C.’s) are passed to the LA within the time limit specified in the 
AVC scheme. The Governing Body shall meet any consequential costs from the 
school’s budget share. 
 
A Governing Body of any maintained school which directly administers its payroll 
shall supply salary, service and pensions data to the LA which the LA requires to 
submit its annual return of salary and service to Teachers' Pensions and to produce 
its audited contributions certificate.  The LA will advise schools each year of the 
timing, format and specification of the information required from each school. A 
Governing Body shall also ensure that Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) are 
passed to the LA within the time limit specified in the AVC scheme. The Governing 
Body shall meet any consequential costs from the school’s budget share.  
 
The Governing Bodies of schools which provide payroll services should submit a 
monthly return of salary and service to the authority. 
 
Governing bodies should also ensure that details of additional voluntary contributions 
(AVCs) are passed to the authority within the time limit specified in the AVC scheme. 
The standard text for this is: 
 
 
“In order to ensure that the performance of the duty on the authority to supply 
Teachers’ Pensions with information under the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2014, the following conditions are imposed on the authority and 
governing bodies of all maintained schools covered by this scheme in relation to their 
budget shares. 

Page 70



P a g e  | 40 

 

   

 
“The conditions only apply to governing bodies of maintained schools that have not 
entered into an arrangement with the authority to provide payroll services. 
 
“A governing body of any maintained school, whether or not the employer of the 
teachers at such a school, which has entered into any arrangement or agreement 
with a person other than the authority to provide payroll services, shall ensure that 
any such arrangement or agreement is varied to require that person to supply salary, 
service and pensions data to the authority which the authority requires to submit its 
monthly return of salary and service to Teachers’ Pensions and to produce its audited 
contributions certificate. 
 
“The authority will advise schools each year of the timing, format and specification of 
the information required. A governing body shall also ensure that any such 
arrangement or agreement is varied to require that additional voluntary contributions 
(AVCs) are passed to the authority within the time limit specified in the AVC scheme. 
The governing body shall meet any consequential costs from the school’s budget 
share. 
 
“A governing body of any maintained school which directly administers its payroll 
shall supply salary, service and pensions data to the authority which the authority 
requires to submit its monthly return of salary and service to Teachers’ Pensions and 
to produce its audited contributions certificate. 
 
“The authority will advise schools each year of the timing, format and specification of 
the information required from each school. A governing body shall also ensure that 
additional voluntary contributions (AVCs) are passed to the authority within the time 
limit specified in the AVC scheme. The governing body shall meet any consequential 
costs from the school’s budget share.” 

Page 71



P a g e  | 41 

 

   

SECTION 9: PFI/PPP Clauses 
 
 
The LA shall have the power to charge a school’s budget share amounts agreed 
under a PFI/PPP agreement entered into by the Governing Body.  Governing bodies 
will be asked to sign specific agreements for each PPP/PFI and these agreements will 
contain the contract terms, mechanisms for charging budget shares and other 
relevant details.  Once agreements have been signed governing bodies will be bound 
by these and will be required to make contributions towards the cost of the contract. 
 
 

Page 72



P a g e  | 42 

 

   

SECTION 10: INSURANCE 
 
 
If funds for insurance are delegated to any school, the LA may require the school to 
demonstrate that cover relevant to an LA's insurable interests, under a policy 
arranged by the Governing Body, is at least as good as the relevant minimum cover 
arranged by the LA if the LA makes such arrangements, either paid for from central 
funds or from contributions from schools' delegated budgets. Details of the minimum 
cover required will be circulated to schools and may be amended annually. When 
establishing the minimum cover required, the LA shall have regard to the actual risks 
which might reasonably be expected to arise at each individual school. 
 
The evidence required to demonstrate the parity of cover should be reasonable, not 
place an undue burden upon the school, nor act as a barrier to the school exercising 
their choice of supplier. 
 

Page 73



P a g e  | 43 

 

   

SECTION 11: MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 
11.1 Right of access to information 
 
Governing bodies shall supply to the LA all financial and other information which 
might reasonably be required to enable the LA to satisfy itself as to the school's 
management of its delegated budget share, or the use made of any central 
expenditure by the LA (e.g. earmarked funds) on the school. 
 
 
11.2 Liability of governors 
 
Because the Governing Body is a corporate body11, governors of maintained schools 
will not incur personal liability in the exercise of their power to spend the delegated 
budget share provided they act in good faith.  
 
 
11.3 Governors' expenses 
 
The LA shall have the power to delegate to the Governing Body of a school yet to 
receive a delegated budget, funds to meet governors' expenses 
 
Only allowances in respect of purposes specified in regulations12 may be paid to 
governors from a school's delegated budget share. Schools are expressly forbidden 
from paying any other allowances to governors.  
 
Schools are also barred from payment of expenses duplicating those paid by the 
Secretary of State to additional governors appointed by him to schools under special 
measures. 
 
 
11.4 Responsibility for legal costs 
 
Legal costs incurred by the Governing Body, although the responsibility of the LA as 
part of the cost of maintaining the school - unless they relate to the statutory 
responsibility of aided school governors for buildings - may be charged to the 
school's budget share unless the Governing Body acts in accordance with the advice 
of the LA. 
 
Where there is a conflict of interest between the LA and the Governing body, the 
Governing Body should seek their own independent legal advice. Governing bodies 
should be aware that the costs of such advice will be their responsibility. 
 
 

                                                
11 and because of the terms of s.50(7) of the SSAF Act 
12 schedule 11 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, 

Page 74



P a g e  | 44 

 

   

 
11.5 Health and Safety 
 
Background 
 
The Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 together with the specific supporting 
Regulations and associated Approved Codes of Practice,  places overall responsibility 
for health & safety with the employer.  Who the employer is, varies with the type of 
school i.e.: 
 
 - for community schools, voluntary controlled schools, pupil referral units and 

maintained nursery schools, the employer is usually the LA. 
 
 - for voluntary aided schools, foundation schools and independent schools the 

employer is usually the governing body. 
 
Where relevant the governing body in all categories of school will also have health 
and safety responsibilities when exercising its role as the controller of school 
premises. 
 
The Health & Safety Executive (HSE) is the organisation who enforces health & 
safety responsibilities imposed on LA’s, School’s and Governing Bodies.  The HSE will 
usually take action against the employer for non-compliance but they may take 
action against employees who have failed to undertake their health & safety 
responsibilities. 
 
Schools may take advice on health & safety from other bodies but must heed the 
advice and recommended policies of the LA. 
 
Schools are also required to ensure, as far as is reasonably practical, that relevant 
Governors and staff attend appropriate health & safety training. 
 
Health & Safety Responsibilities  
 
The LA has delegated the responsibility for health & safety to schools: this includes 
the requirement for all schools to have a health & safety policy and associated 
protocols & practices in place & arrangements to implement this.  The employer 
retains the ultimate responsibility for health & safety, and who the employer is, 
varies according to the school (see above).  
  
In complying with its responsibilities and to assist governing bodies to comply with 
their responsibilities the LA will:  
 

- undertake regular health and safety audits to confirm that these 
responsibilities are being undertaken.  

 
- provide health & safety guidance  

 

Page 75



P a g e  | 45 

 

   

- provide training for various categories of staff on their health & safety 
responsibilities and in particular the roles & responsibilities of 
“Responsible, Nominated & Competent” persons within the meaning 
of the Act.  

 
- direct schools to release staff for health & safety training as 

necessary, the cost of which can be recharged to schools. 
 

- request Governing Bodies to supply financial & other information to 
ensure that the school is managing its budget satisfactorily.  This will 
include the use of both the school’s Individual School Budget (ISB) 
and their Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) budget. 

 
-  require Governing Bodies to assess in advance the health & safety 

competence of contractors taking into account the LA’s procurement 
policies. 

  
 
Monitoring of Health & Safety responsibilities by the LA & financial 
implications for schools 
 
The LA has a statutory duty to monitor robustly how schools are complying with their 
responsibilities & to take appropriate action where there is non compliance.  This will 
include recharging schools the costs for health & safety work which have been 
delegated to them but which have not been undertaken eg: statutory maintenance 
costs; staff training.  The LA can also withhold funds to cover the strategic 
management of health & safety ie: establishing policies; setting standards; providing 
competence at a strategic level; undertaking monitoring; reviewing policies & 
standards & advising schools.  
 
 Where the LA believes that the health & safety of anyone on-site or of anybody 
engaged on school activities off-site, is at risk, it will make a direction to the 
Governing Body & Head Teacher to remedy this as a matter of urgency.  
 
Substantial or persistent non-compliance is a ground for suspending delegation, 
subject to the Governing Body’s right of appeal. 
 
 
LA intervention in Schools 
  
The LA can & will give a warning notice to any school in its area where the safety 
(not health) of staff or pupils is threatened.  
 
Reserve Power of Entry 
 
LA’s may need to obtain information in order to exercise their health & safety 
responsibilities & if necessary have a right of entry to any school maintained by 
them. 

Page 76



P a g e  | 46 

 

   

 
11.6 Right of attendance for Chief Finance Officer 
 
Governing bodies are required to permit the Chief Finance Officer of the LA or any 
officer of the LA nominated by the Chief Finance Officer to attend meetings of the 
Governing Body at which any agenda items are relevant to the exercise of her or his 
responsibilities. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer's attendance shall normally be limited to items which relate 
to issues of probity or overall financial management and shall not be regarded as 
routine. 
 
11.7 ‘Whistleblowing’ 
 
Persons working at a school or school governors who wish to complain about 
financial management or financial propriety at said school should consult the LA’s 
whistleblowing policy contained in Annex C. 
 
11.8 Special Educational Needs 
 
Schools should use their best endeavours in spending the budget share or any 
specific funding provided to secure the special educational needs of their pupils. 
Where collaborative funding is available for SEN provision, all schools must ensure 
that the funding is used in the most effective way for all pupils within the 
collaborative schools. 
 
11.9 Child Protection 
 
The LA acknowledges the need to release staff to attend child protection case 
conferences and other related events but shall not make specific payments to the 
schools to contribute towards the associated costs. 
 

11.10 Redundancy and early retirement costs 

The 2002 Education Act sets out how premature retirement and redundancy costs should 

normally be funded. Further guidance is provided at Annex B.   

There is a duty of care on a Schools Governing Bodies to ensure effective financial 

management is in place thereby mitigating /minimizing costs associated with redundancy of 

individuals.  The Local Authority in consideration of supporting any associated costs will 

consider the actions taken by the governing body to avoid /mitigate such costs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schemes-for-financing-schools/schemes-for-financing-local-authority-maintained-schools#annex-b-responsibility-for-redundancy-and-early-retirement-costs


P a g e  | 47 

 

   

SECTION 12: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 

Schools which choose to exercise the power conferred by section 27 (1) of the Education Act 

2002 to provide community facilities will be subject to controls. Regulations made under 

section 28 (2), if made, can specify activities which may not be undertaken at all under the 

main enabling power. 

Section 88 of the Children and Families Act 2014, has removed the requirements in section 

28(4) and section 28(5) of the Education Act 2002 for maintained schools in England. Under 

section 28(4) a school was obliged to consult its authority and under section 28(5) a school 

must have regard to advice or guidance from the Secretary of State or their local authority 

when offering this type of provision. 

Under section 28(1), the main limitations and restrictions on the power will be those 

contained in the maintaining authority’s scheme for financing schools made under section 48 

of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 as amended by paragraph 2 of Schedule 3 

to the Education Act 2002. 

This amendment extended the coverage of schemes to include the exercise of the powers of 

governing bodies to provide community facilities. 

Schools are therefore subject to prohibitions, restrictions and limitations in the scheme for 

financing schools. This part of the scheme does not extend to joint-use agreements, transfer of 

control agreements, or agreements between the authority and schools to secure the provision 

of adult and community learning. 

 
 
 
12.1 Schools which choose to exercise the power conferred by s.27 (1) of the 
Education Act 2002 to provide community facilities will be subject to a range of 
controls. First, regulations made under s.28 (2), if made, can specify activities which 
may not be undertaken at all under the main enabling power. Secondly, the school is 
obliged to consult its LA and have regard to advice from the LA. Thirdly, the 
Secretary of State issues guidance to governing bodies about a range of issues 
connected with exercise of the power, and a school must have regard to that. 
  
However, under s.28(1), the main limitations and restrictions on the power will be 
those contained in the maintaining LA’s scheme for financing schools made under 
section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 3 to the Education Act 2002 extends the coverage of schemes to the 
powers of governing bodies to provide community facilities. 
 
Schools are therefore subject to prohibitions, restrictions and limitations in the 
scheme for financing schools.  
 
This section of the scheme does not extend to joint-use agreements; transfer of 
control agreements, or agreements between the LA and schools to secure the 
provision of adult and community learning. 
 

Page 78



P a g e  | 48 

 

   

 
12.2 The budget share of a school can be used to fund community facilities – either 
start-up costs or ongoing expenditure - or to meet deficits arising from such 
activities. 
 
12.3 Mismanagement of community facilities funds can be grounds for suspension 
of the right to a delegated budget.  
 
 
Consultation with the LA – Financial aspects 
 
12.4 Section 28(4) of the Education Act 2002 requires that before exercising the 
community facilities power, governing bodies must consult the LA, and have regard 
to advice given to them by their LA.  
 
Schools should therefore adopt the following procedure before providing community 
facilities. 
 

a. Details of the proposal should be supplied to the LA. Which will include: 
i.       Nature of the facilities 
ii.      How they fit in with the extended schools agenda 
iii. How they will benefit the pupils of the school or the community 
iv. An income and expenditure statement indicating how the facilities will 

be funded. 
 

b. The school should allow 2 weeks for the LA to respond with any suggestions or 
comments before the facilities are adopted. In their response the LA will 
consider the benefits to the pupils/community and the financial viability of the 
facility. 

 
c. Schools should confirm the arrangements they have decided on following the 

advice given by the LA. 
 
The LA may not charge the school for any advice given. 
 
 
Funding Agreements  - LA Powers 
 
12.5. Schools must provide the LA with details of any third party funding 
agreements before they are signed. The LA must be given at least 2 weeks to 
comment on the agreement. 
 
12.6 The LA does not have a right of veto over any such agreements. However if 
an agreement is signed against the wishes of the LA, which the LA considers is 
contrary to Financial standing orders or seriously prejudicial to the interests of the 
school or the LA, that may constitute grounds for suspension of the rights to a 
delegated budget. 

 

Page 79



P a g e  | 49 

 

   

 
 

Other Prohibitions, restrictions, and limitations 
 

12.7. The LA may require that in the interests of the LA the Governing Body should 
carry out the facilities through a schools company or must obtain indemnity 
insurance. The LA will only impose this request if it considers that the project carries 
significant financial risk. 
 
Supply of Financial Information 
 
12.8 Where the LA has notified a school that they believe there is cause for 
concern with the schools management of the community facility, they may request 
detailed income and expenditure statements every three months. If necessary the LA 
may also request the submission of a recovery plan for the activity.  

 
12.9 All income and expenditure on Community facility should be reported under 
the CFR Framework. 
 
Audit 
 
12.10 Schools must grant access to the school’s records connected with exercise of 
the community facilities power, in order to facilitate internal and external audit of 
relevant income and expenditure.  
 
 
12.11 Schools, in concluding funding agreements with other persons pursuant to the 
exercise of the community facilities power, must ensure that such agreements 
contain adequate provision for access by the LA to the records and other property of 
those persons held on the school premises, or held elsewhere insofar as they relate 
to the activity in question, in order for the LA to satisfy itself as to the propriety of 
expenditure on the facilities in question. 
 
Treatment of income and surpluses 
 
12.12 Schools may retain all net income derived from community facilities except 
where otherwise agreed with a funding provider, whether that be the LA or some 
other person.  
 
12.13 The school may carry such retained net income over from one financial year 
to the next as a separate community facilities surplus, or, subject to the agreement 
of the LA at the end of each financial year, transfer all or part of it to the budget 
share balance. 
 
 
12.14  If the school is a community or community special school, and the LA ceases 
to maintain the school, any accumulated retained income obtained from exercise of 
the community facilities power reverts to the LA unless otherwise agreed with a 

Page 80



P a g e  | 50 

 

   

funding provider. 
 
Health & Safety 
 
12.15 The Health and Safety provision (11.5) is also applicable to Community 
Facilities. 
 
12.16 Governing bodies will have responsibility for the costs of securing Criminal 
Records Bureau Disclosure Barring service clearance for all adults involved in 
community activities taking place during the school day. Governing bodies will be 
free to pass on such costs to a funding partner as part of an agreement with that 
partner. 
 
Insurance 
 
12.17 It is the responsibility of the Governing Body to ensure adequate 
arrangements are made for insurance against risks arising from the exercise of the 
community facilities power, taking professional advice as necessary. Such insurance 
can not be funded from the school budget share. The school should seek the LA’s 
advice before finalising any insurance arrangement for community facilities. 
 
12.18 The LA may undertake its own assessment of the insurance arrangements 
made by a school in respect of community facilities, and if it judges those 
arrangements to be inadequate, make arrangements itself and charge the resultant 
cost to the school. Such costs can not be charged to the school’s budget share. 
 
Taxation 
 
12.19 Schools should seek the advice of the LA and the local VAT office on any 
issues relating to the possible imposition of Value Added Tax on expenditure in 
connection with community facilities, including the use of the LA VAT reclaim facility. 
 
12.20  Schools are reminded that if any member of staff employed by the school or 
LA in connection with community facilities at the school is paid from funds held in a 
school’s own bank account (whether a separate account is used for community 
facilities or not), the school is likely to be held liable for payment of income tax and 
National Insurance, in line with Inland Revenue rules. 
 
Banking 
 
12.21  Schools may maintain a separate bank account or use the schools main 
account for Community Facilities. 
 
Where a separate bank account is used, transaction must be recorded under the CFR 
Framework and audited copies of the year end accounts must be submitted to the 
LA. 
 
Where the schools main bank account is used separate identification of the 

Page 81



P a g e  | 51 

 

   

Community Facilities funds from the Schools Budget share will be facilitated through 
the use of the CFR framework. 
 
12.22 Restrictions on banking arrangements for Community Facilities are the same 
as those for the schools main bank account (see section 3.5.1) 
 
12.23 Schools are reminded that they may not borrow money without the written 
consent of the Secretary of State. This requirement does not extend to monies lent 
to schools by their maintaining LA. 

Page 82



P a g e  | 52 

 

   

ANNEX A  List of  Schools to which this Scheme Applies 
 

PRIMARY SCHOOLS  
Adamsrill  Launcelot  
All Saints CoE Lee Manor  
Ashmead  Lucas Vale  
Athelney  Marvels Lane  
Baring  Myatt Garden  
Beecroft Garden  Our Lady & St Philip Neri  
Brindishe Green Perrymount  
Brindishe Lee 
Brindishe Manor 

Rangefield  

Childeric  Rathfern 
Christchurch  Rushey Green  
Coopers Lane  Sandhurst Infants 
Dalmain  Sandhurst Junior 
Deptford Park  Sir Francis Drake  
Downderry  St. Augustine's  
Edmund Waller  St. Bartholomew's  
Elfrida  St. James Hatcham  
Eliot Bank  St. John the Baptist  
Fairlawn  St. Joseph's RC  
Forster Park  St. Margaret’s Lee C of E  
Good Shepherd  St. Mary Magdalene's RC 
Gordonbrock  St. Mary's Lewisham RC 
Grinling Gibbons  St. Michael's CE  
Haseltine  St. Saviour's Catholic  
Holbeach St. Stephen's CE 
Holy Cross  St. William of York RC 
Holy Trinity  St. Winifred's RC 
Horniman  St. Winifred's Junior 
John Ball  Stillness Infants 
John Stainer  Stillness Junior 
Kelvin Grove  Torridon Primary  
Kender  Torridon Junior 
Kilmorie  Turnham  

 

SECONDARY SCHOOLS & ALL THROUGH SCHOOLS 
Addey & Stanhope Prendergast Hilly Fields 
Bonus Pastor  RC Prendergast Ladywell Fields  
Conisborough College Prendergast Vale College 
Deptford Green Sedgehill 
Forest Hill Sydenham 
 Trinity Lewisham 

 

SPECIAL SCHOOLS 
Brent Knoll New Woodlands 
Drumbeat Watergate 
Greenvale  

 

NURSERY SCHOOLS 
Chelwood Clyde 

 

PUPIL REFERRAL UNIT 
Abbey Manor College  

 

Page 83



P a g e  | 53 

 

   

ANNEX B   Provision of financial information and reports 
 
Schools are required to submit the following information and reports to the LA in the 
agreed formats and within the stated timelines. 
 
Due to the evolving needs of statutory returns, this list is subject to amendments 
which must be communicated with schools in a timely and appropriate manner.  
 
Some requests vary year on year and are driven by wider statutory guidance such as 
the closure of accounts process.  In this case detailed information will be provided 
annually. 
 
 
 

Financial information and reports Required by : 
  

SFVS 2nd Friday in March 

Closure of Statutory Accounts Process Per annual timelines  

CFR returns Per closing timetable  

1st Approved Budget Plan and Supporting Documentation  15th June (in 
exceptional 
circumstances a 
school may agree an 
extension with the LA 
to a maximum of the 
30th June)   

2nd Approved Budget Plan and Supporting Documentation (updated for Schools Census and known 
adjustments)  

15th November (in 
exceptional 
circumstances a 
school may agree an 
extension with the LA 
to a maximum of the 
30th November)   

VAT returns including supporting documents Within 2 weeks of 
month end. 

Bank reconciliations, including supporting documentation for September and March. Within 2 weeks of 
month end.  

Trial Balance as at the end of year.  Per closing timetable 

Details of the expenditure and income by CFR incurred locally and centrally during the financial year. Per closing timetable 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 84



P a g e  | 54 

 

   

ANNEX C  LA is not allowed to offer schools loans for deficit recovery  -this appendix 
is no longer required 

 
 

Licensed Deficit Financing Scheme for Schools with Delegated Budgets 
 

1 About the scheme 
 
1.1 The licensed deficit scheme enables schools to apply to the LA for permission to 

end a financial year with a deficit, which will be eliminated in subsequent years. 
It is a way of carrying out works or making large purchases which some schools 
cannot fund out of their annual allocations and any budget surpluses they have 
set aside to date. The projects to be funded should make a demonstrable 
contribution to the achievement of the schools development plan.   

 
1.1 The scheme means that governing bodies would be authorised by the LA to 

set a deficit budget. Governing bodies may not set a deficit budget unless 
they have the written permission of the LA. 

 
1.2 A licensed deficit can also be granted where a school, has found itself in a 

deficit position due to changes in circumstances e.g. significant fall in pupil 
numbers. The licensed deficit will be granted to reflect that cost reductions 
may not be possible immediately without detrimental impact on the 
curriculum. The deficit will be financed by a loan to the school 

 
1.2  
 
1.3 Before a planned deficit is financed, the school will need to be able to 

demonstrate that they will be able to eliminate the loan over the agreed 
timescale.    

 
2 How the scheme is funded 
 
2.1 The scheme is funded on the basis that there will be significant balances 

accumulated by schools. It is not likely that all the schools which have surpluses 
will spend them in the same financial year 

 
2.2 The LA can use up to a maximum of 40% of the collective balances of all 

schools to fund the scheme. The LA will be responsible for monitoring the 
overall level of school balances and will not authorise deficits if the 40% limit 
would be exceeded 

 
3 What the scheme can be used for 
 
3.1 The scheme is designed to ensure they can sustain a level of expenditure which 

will enable them to deliver the national curriculum.  
 

Page 85



P a g e  | 55 

 

   

3.2 Action plans which arise from OFSTED findings which require additional 
expenditure and where the school has no balances to fund the expenditure. 

 
3.3. Schools that wish to invest in major equipment, projects or building works and 

who do not have sufficient balances to enable them to do this. These projects 
should be linked to either the School Development Plan or Asset Management 
Plan. 

 
3.4 A licensed deficit can also be granted where a school, has found itself in a 

potential deficit position due to a change in circumstances e.g. significant fall in 
pupil numbers. The licensed deficit will be granted to reflect that cost 
reductions may not be possible immediately 

 
4 How the process will work 
 
4.1 As soon as the schools identifies the need for a Licensed Deficit they must 

formally notify the LA in writing and contact the Finance Team for the 
application forms.  

 
4.2 The application forms will require the following information: 
 

a. The period of the deficit. This will be a maximum of 5 years for Secondary 
schools and 3 years for Primary schools. 

b. The amount of the deficit. This can be no higher than 10% of the schools 
budget. 

c. A brief explanation of the purpose of the deficit. 
d. A recovery plan. This will consist of a number of specific actions being taken by 

the school. The costed impact of each action must be shown for each year of 
the deficit. 

e. A summary budget plan for the period of the deficit with cross reference to the 
recovery plan. 

f. Be authorised and signed by both the Headteacher and Chair of Governors. 
 
4.3 The completed application forms must be sent to the Finance Department. 

Finance Officers and School Improvement Officers will scrutinise the application 
before recommendation for approval is made. 

 
4.4 The application will need the following authorisation 
 

a. Up to £100k the  Head of Standards and Achievement 
b. Up to £500k Executive Director for Children and Young People 
c. Above £500k Mayor and Cabinet 
 

4.5 Once approved a confirmation letter and copy of the authorised application will 
be sent to the school. The financing for a Licensed Deficit is agreed through 
a legal contract signed by the Mayor or his representative and the chair of 
governors.   

 

Page 86



P a g e  | 56 

 

   

4.6 The school must the produce revised budget plans, which must include a 
resolution of the Governing Body. 

 
4.7 Both the school and the LA must continually monitor the schools budget to 

ensure the agreed amount of deficit is not exceeded. 
 
5 LA Responsibilities 
 
 The LA will be responsible for ensuring that:- 
 
 the scheme is operated fairly 
 
 governors have satisfied themselves that the purpose for which the licensed 

deficit is sought is in the interest of the school and linked to the schools' 
development plans 

 
 the amount of the deficit will not exceed that which a school will be able to 

repay over the specified period 
 
 the medium and long term interests of the Council are safeguarded e.g. against 

over commitment 
 
 Requests for authorised deficits are accompanied by the appropriate forms and 

are checked for accuracy and compliance with guidance. 
 
6 School Responsibilities 
 
  Governing bodies will be responsible for ensuring that:- 
 
 The Licensed Deficit finance will make a demonstrable contribution to the 

school 
 
 The proposals are consistent with the school's Development Plan 
 
  Background information and cost estimates are accurate to the best of their 

knowledge 
 
  Application forms are completed and signed by the Headteacher and chair of 

governors 
 
  Deficit funds are used for the specified purpose 
 
7 Timing 
 
7.1 Applications for authorised deficits will need to be made and approved before 

the school sets a deficit budget by the end of May. 
 
 

Page 87



P a g e  | 57 

 

   

 
ANNEX D 
 
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY OCTOBER 2015 
 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 The Council is committed to openness, probity and full accountability for the 
services it provides.  It seeks to achieve the highest standards of conduct and 
has in place detailed rules and procedures to ensure such standards are 
observed.  However, sometimes malpractice or wrongdoing may occur.  The 
Council is not prepared to tolerate any malpractice or wrongdoing and this 
policy is intended to be a clear and unequivocal statement that whenever 
malpractice or wrongdoing by the Council, its employees, contractors or 
suppliers is reported, it will promptly investigate.  If malpractice or 
wrongdoing has occurred, the Council will take appropriate action to rectify, if 
possible, and investigate means of preventing it in future. 

 

1.2 This policy is one of a number of corporate policies 13 which together 
demonstrate the Council’s commitment to the prevention of malpractice in 
public life.  Those documents can be found on the Council’s website.  

 

2. Principles 
 

2.1 The overriding principle underpinning this policy and its implementation is that 
the Council will act fairly and in the public interest. 

 

3. Aims 
 

3.1 This policy aims to encourage people to feel confident to come forward with 
serious concerns 

 
 to ensure that those concerns are properly and promptly investigated; 

 
 where concerns are well founded that appropriate action is taken; and  

 
 that feedback is given to the whistleblower about the outcome of the 

investigation. 
 
 
 

                                                
13 Employee Code of Conduct – http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-

is-run/Documents/EmployeeCodeConduct.pdf     Member Code of Conduct – 

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/Pages/council-ethical-

standards.aspx  Anti-Fraud and Corruption -

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/Pages/Report-fraud.aspx 

 

 

Page 88

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/Pages/council-ethical-standards.aspx
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/Pages/council-ethical-standards.aspx


P a g e  | 58 

 

   

 
 

4. Scope 
 

4.1 This whistleblowing policy is intended to cover major concerns that fall outside 
the scope of other procedures.  It is intended that the whistleblowing policy 
be a supplement to and not a substitute for other avenues through which 
complaints or matters of genuine concern may be raised.  Examples of the 
issues which it might be appropriate to raise through the whistleblowing policy 
include: 

 
 Conduct that is a criminal offence or a breach of law 
 Disclosures relating to miscarriage of justice 
 Health & safety risks to the public and/or employees 
 Damage to the environment 
 The unauthorised use of public funds 
 Possible fraud or corruption 
 Sexual or physical abuse of clients, or 
 Other unethical conduct 

 
4.2 Concerns may also be raised under this whistleblowing policy where the 

nature of an allegation means that it would not be appropriate to use those 
other avenues of complaint, for example, where the allegation relates to a 
more senior officer, or the whistleblower fears reprisals should they make a 
complaint through other channels. 

 

5. Grievance Procedure 
 

5.1 There are existing procedures to enable employees to lodge a grievance 
relating to their own employment, including allegations of bullying, 
harassment, or breach of the Councils equal opportunities policy.  Disclosures 
relating to an employees own contract of employment will not normally be 
investigated under this policy, unless there are compelling public interest 
reasons to do so. 

 

6. Complaints about the conduct of Council Members 

 
6.1 Complaints about malpractice/wrongdoing against Council members will be 

handled in accordance with the Council’s procedure for handling complaints of 
breach of the Council’s Member Code of Conduct. 

 

7. Making a Complaint 

 
7.1 Anyone may make a complaint under this policy, including councillors, 

employees, and members of the public.  Anyone considering making a 
complaint under this policy should first consider whether another avenue to 
raise the complaint is more appropriate.  If so, they are urged to use it.  
Details of other avenues for complaint are set out in paragraph xx below.  If 
none of these avenues is appropriate, then concerns should be raised with the 

Page 89



P a g e  | 59 

 

   

Director of Law  who is the Council’s whistleblowing officer.  Concerns may be 
raised verbally or in writing. 

 

 
7.2 Anyone making a written report is invited to mark the envelope “to be opened 

by addressee only” and to set out the background and history of the concern, 
giving relevant dates.  Whistleblowers should also set out the reason why they 
are particularly concerned about the situation. 

 
7.3 The earlier a concern is expressed, the easier it is to take action. 
 
7.4 Whistleblowers are not expected to prove the truth of an allegation.  However, 

they will need to demonstrate to the Director of Law  that there are 
reasonable grounds for the concern.   

 
7.5 The Director of Law  will provide advice/guidance on how to pursue a matter 

of concern under the whistleblowing policy to anyone who asks and how to do 
so.   

 

8. The Council’s response 
 

8.1 The Director of Law  will acknowledge in writing any complaint brought to her 
attention and record the complaint in a register kept specially for the purpose.  

 
8.2 The Director of Law , or in her absence her deputy, will make an initial 

assessment of the complaint to decide whether an investigation ought to take 
place and if so, how.   This initial consideration will allow the Council to decide 
on the appropriate method of enquiry and to ensure that resources are not 
wasted where investigation would not be in the public interest. 

 
8.3 Unless the issue is raised anonymously, then the Director of Law  will 

generally interview the whistleblower as part of this initial assessment.   
 
8.4 Once this initial assessment is complete, the Director of Law  will write to the 

whistleblower to inform them of the outcome of that assessment.  If an 
investigation is to ensue, then the Director of Law  will inform the 
whistleblower of that fact and inform them who will be conducting the 
investigation (either the Director of Law  personally, or an investigating officer 
nominated by her to do so).   

 
8.5 The Director of Law  will inform the whistleblower that the investigation 

should normally be completed within 28 days, though this will depend upon 
the nature of the complaint and its complexity. If it proves not to be possible, 
the investigating officer will write to the whistleblower before expiry of that 28 
days to give an estimated time for completion of the investigation.  In any 
event, the investigating officer will inform the whistleblower of progress of the 
investigation every 28 days.  Copies of this correspondence from the 
investigating officer to the whistleblower will also be sent to the Monitoring 

Page 90



P a g e  | 60 

 

   

Officer and details entered in the register. 
 
8.6 In the most serious cases it may be that a police enquiry will ensue, or an 

independent investigation may be called for.  In some cases the issue will be 
referred for a management investigation, possibly by the Chief Executive, or 
another officer nominated to act on his behalf.  Allegations of fraud, 
corruption, or financial irregularity will be referred to the Special 
Investigations Manager for investigation. In any investigation conducted by or 
on behalf of the Council the provisions of paragraph 8.5 above will apply so 
that the whistleblower is kept updated on the progress of the investigation. 

 
8.7 Once the investigation is complete the Director of Law  will inform the 

whistleblower of the outcome and this will be noted in the register. She will 
also ask the whistleblower for feedback about the way their complaint was 
handled. 

 
8.8 In appropriate circumstances, the Director of Law  will prepare a report for the 

Standards Committee and/or Council dealing with the outcome of a particular 
investigation, and any action taken in response to rectify the situation and/or 
prevent a recurrence. 

 

9. Safeguards 
 

9.1 No Victimisation 
 

 The Council recognises that the decision to blow the whistle can be a difficult 
one to make, not least if there is a fear of reprisal from those who may be 
perpetrating malpractice, or others.  The Council will not tolerate any 
victimisation of a person who raises a concern in good faith and will take 
appropriate steps to protect them, including where appropriate, disciplinary 
action.   

 

9.2 Vexatious complaints 
 

 Just as the Council seeks to protect those who raise complaints in good faith, 
it will seek to protect those against whom claims are made which turn out to 
be unfounded.  No action will be taken against anyone who reasonably raises 
a concern in good faith which transpires to be unfounded.  However, the 
Council will take disciplinary action against any employee who makes a 
vexatious claim.  In either case, where it turns out that a claim was without 
foundation, the Council will use its best endeavours to ensure that any 
negative impact upon the person complained of is minimised. 

 

9.3 Confidentiality 

 
Wherever possible, the Council will protect the identity of a whistleblower who 
raises a concern and does not want his/her name to be disclosed.  When a 
whistleblower has requested that their identity be kept confidential all 

Page 91



P a g e  | 61 

 

   

reasonable efforts will be made to obtain evidence which is pertinent to the 
claim without disclosing the whistleblower’s identity.  However, it may not be 
possible in all circumstances to keep the identity of the whistleblower 
confidential, for example, if the matter needs to be referred to the police, or it 
is not possible to obtain other corroborating evidence.  The very fact of the 
investigation may serve to reveal the source of the information and the 
statement of the whistleblower may be needed as part of evidence against the 
perpetrator.  Where a whistleblower has requested confidentiality but it is not 
possible to continue the investigation on that basis if the investigation is to 
proceed, the Director of Law /investigating officer will discuss this with the 
whistleblower before doing so. 

 

10  Anonymity 
 

10.1 Complaints which are made anonymously are usually more difficult to 
investigate.  However, the Council prefers anonymous complaints to be made, 
rather than serious concerns to go unreported.  Whether or not an 
anonymous complaint can be investigated will depend upon the circumstances 
of the case.  If there is sufficient detail provided to enable an investigation to 
be carried out without knowing the identity of the whistleblower an 
investigation will ensue, provided it is in the public interest to do so.  Where 
an anonymous complaint raises serious concerns every effort will be made to 
investigate thoroughly. 

 

11. Alternative Avenues for complaint 
 

11.1 Where an appropriate internal avenue exists to deal with a concern, people 
are urged to use it.  This policy is intended to supplement rather than replace 
existing channels.  Where practicable existing internal channels should be 
used.  These include: 

 

 Service Managers/Directors 
 

 Anyone with a complaint about Council services is encouraged to contact the 
manager directly responsible for that service or the relevant Executive 
Director. In most cases where there is concern this avenue will be the first 
point of reference. If a complaint relates to an Executive Director, it should be 
referred to the Chief Executive. 

 

 The Council's Complaints Procedures 
 

 The Council has a corporate complaints procedure by which it invites any 
person to raise a complaint they may have about Council Services. 
Information about this procedure is available from the Advice and Information 
Service on extension 48761. 

 

 Local Councillors 
 

 Members of the public are encouraged to refer matters of concern to their 

Page 92



P a g e  | 62 

 

   

local Councillor who can then either identify the best point of contact for them 
to report the matter or take up the issue on their behalf. Information about 
how to contact local Councillors is available from Governance Support at 
Lewisham Town Hall on extension 49455. 

 
 
 
 

Anti-fraud Procedures  

 The Council’s Anti-Fraud & Corruption Team (A-FACT) investigates all 
allegations of fraud within and against Lewisham Council and is part of the 
Audit & Risk Group based within the Corporate Services Directorate.  The 
team has specialist officers covering housing fraud, employee fraud, fraud 
relating to contractors, blue badges etc. 

 The Council's Financial Regulations state that it is the responsibility of any 
employee discovering or having reasonable suspicion of any irregularity, 
misconduct or fraud immediately to notify the relevant Executive Director or 
Director of Corporate Resources. When so informed, the Executive Director 
appraise the circumstances and shall notify and discuss the action to be taken 
with the Director of Corporate Resources. All information shall be treated in 
complete confidence. 

 
 Reports of suspected fraud may also be made to the suspected fraud, 

corruption or other financial irregularity can also be made to the Anti-Fraud & 
Corruption Team Manager who will conduct an investigation and make 
recommendations for appropriate action. Further information about this 
procedure can be obtained from Carol Owen ext. 47909.  

 

 Benefit Fraud  

 All allegations of Benefit fraud should be made to Carol Owen, Anti-Fraud & 
Corruption Team Manager, preferably by email to, 
carol.owen@lewisham.gov.uk. 

  

 Tenancy Fraud  

 The Council has a dedicated Housing Investigator who investigates fraudulent 
applications for housing. They also receive allegations of subletting on behalf 
of Lewisham Homes and other housing providers.  All allegations of housing 
related fraud should be made to Juliet Bennett, Housing Investigation 
Practitioner, preferably by email to,  juliet.bennett@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

 Any reports of suspected, corruption or other financial irregularity may also be 
made to reportfraud@lewisham.gov.uk or to the team’s 24 hour freephone 
Hotline on 0800 0850119.  

 

 Statutory Officers 

Page 93

mailto:carol.owen@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:juliet.bennett@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:reportfraud@lewisham.gov.uk


P a g e  | 63 

 

   

 In addition the officers who have particular responsibility for regulating the 

 conduct of the Council and its activities. They are as follows:  

 Chief Executive – Head of Paid Service – Kim Wright ext. 46444 

 Responsible for overall management of workforce. 

 

Executive Director of Corporate Services – Vacant ext. 48013 

Chief Finance Officer – David Austin – ext: 49114  
The Council's officer with responsibility for the financial management, audit 
and financial probity of the Council.  

 
 Director of Law  – Monitoring Officer – Kath Nicholson ext. 47648 
 
 Dealing with advising on the probity and legality of the Council's decision 

making. The Director of Law , as Monitoring Officer, is the Council's 
Whistleblowing officer. 

  
 Employees with serious concerns about Councillors should in the first instance 

raise them with the Director of Law .  
 
 Children & Vulnerable Adults 
 

Concerns about the safety and wellbeing of children and vulnerable adults 
may be raised either with Sara Williams, Executive Director for Children and 
Young People on 020 8314 8527, email:  sara.williams@lewisham.gov.uk or 
Thomas Brown, Executive Director Community Services, 020 8314 8107, 
email:  Thomas.Brown@lewisham.gov.uk   
 

 The Standards Committee 

 The Council also has a Standards Committee made up of councillors and 

independent people. The role of the Standards Committee is to promote the 

highest standards of ethical conduct amongst members.  

 
11.2 If anyone is unhappy with the process or outcome of an investigation and the 

Council’s response, they may wish to raise the mater externally with: 
 

 The Council’s auditors Grant Thornton LLP, Darren Wells, Director on 
01293 554 120, email: Darren.j.wells@uk.gt.com for all matters relating to 
fraud, corruption or misuse of public money. 

 The Local Government Ombudsman on 0300 061061 
 The Whistleblowing Helpline for NHS and Social Care on 08000 724725 
 The independent charity “Public Concern at Work” on 020 3117 2520, 

email:  whistle@pcaw.org.uk 
 

Page 94

mailto:sara.williams@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:aileen.buckton@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:Darren.j.wells@uk.gt.com
mailto:whistle@pcaw.org.uk


P a g e  | 64 

 

   

11.3 If an employee does choose to take a concern outside the Council, then it is 
their responsibility to ensure that confidential information is not handed over 
(i.e. confidential information, in whatever format, must not be handed over to 
a third party, unless in line with the Data Protection Act 1998).  If clarification 
is required on this, the advice of the Director of Law  should be taken.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



P a g e  | 65 

 

   

Procedure for dealing with whistleblowing referrals 

 

  

Complainant makes referral 

The MO conducts an initial 
assessment as to whether the 
complaint ought to be investigated.  
The complainant is usually 
interviewed at this stage 

The Monitoring Officer (MO) 
acknowledges receipt within 7 days 
and may ask for further particulars 

MO will inform the 
complainant in 
writing with reasons 

The MO will decide whether another 
Council procedure is more 
appropriate, e.g. Statutory 
Complaints Procedure 

The MO will initiate investigation 
either by self or person nominated by 
her 

The Investigating Officer (IO) will write 
to the complainant to tell them they are 
investigating and give them a time 
estimate for completion, usually 28 days 

The Investigation is carried out. The IO 
may interview the complainant, other 
parties, assess paperwork, etc. 

The IO prepares a written report of 
their findings and sends it to the MO 

The MO will inform the complainant of 
the outcome in writing and ask for 
feedback 

MO refers it to the 
appropriate officer 
and informs the 
complainant in 
writing 

 NO 

 YES 

Page 96



P a g e  | 66 

 

   

ANNEX E  
 
 
Costs of dismissals, resignations and premature retirement 
 
 
Statutory framework 
 
The circumstances in which costs incurred in respect of dismissals etc. may or must 
be met from a school’s budget share, whether in whole or in part, are addressed by 
section 37 of the Education Act 2002. 
 
Separate rules apply where the member of staff concerned is employed (wholly or 
partly) for “community purposes” (see below). 
 
Otherwise, the two basic rules laid down by the legislation for members of the staff 
of a maintained school are that: 
 
(A) Costs incurred by the local authority in respect of premature retirement MUST be 
met from the school’s budget share UNLESS (and to the extent that) the authority 
and the governing body agree otherwise in writing [section 37(4)]; and 
 
(B) Costs incurred by the local authority in respect of dismissal or securing the 
resignation of the staff member MAY be met from the school’s budget share BUT 
ONLY  
 
IF (and to the extent that) the authority has “good reason” to deduct those costs 
from the budget share [section 37(5)]. 
What follows sets out Lewisham’s policy in relation to these matters. Further 
guidance and assistance may, if required, be sought from the Lewisham’s Schools HR 
service in particular cases. 
 
 
Premature retirement costs 
 
Any governing body contemplating incurring costs in respect of premature 
retirement, and inviting Lewisham to agree that the costs will be met otherwise than 
from the school’s budget share, should raise the issue with Lewisham at the earliest 
opportunity, and certainly in any normal case before any commitment to such costs 
has been made. Lewisham will normally require a full reasoned justification as to 
why it would be appropriate to give its agreement, and (given what is said below 
about the management of staffing and budgets) it is expected that such agreement 
will only exceptionally be forthcoming, although applications will be considered on 
their merits. 
 
 
Other dismissal/resignation costs 
 

Page 97



P a g e  | 67 

 

   

The legislation does not define what is a “good reason” to charge such costs to the 
school’s budget share (save that a “no redundancy” policy cannot itself be a good 
reason). 
 
The DfE’s guidance Schemes for Financing Schools (December 2015) suggests that 
schemes should contain a provision setting out the circumstances “in which 
exceptions will be made”. When read with Annex B to the guidance, it appears that 
the DfE’s advice is that an authority’s scheme should set out its policy on what it will 
treat as a good reason for charging dismissal/resignation costs to a school’s budget.  
 
Annex B suggests that: “Although each case should be considered on its merits, this 
should be within an agreed framework.” Annex B also sets out a number of examples 
of situations in which a good reason for charging costs to a school’s budget might 
exist: 
 

 Where a school has decided to offer more generous terms than the authority’s 
policy. 

 
 Where a school is otherwise acting outside the authority’s policy. 

 
 Where staffing reductions are being made which the authority does not 

believe to be necessary to set a balanced budget or meet the conditions of a 
licensed deficit. 
 

 Where staffing reductions arise from a deficit caused by factors within a 
school’s control. 
 

 Where a school has excess surplus balances, and no agreed plan to use them. 
 

 Where a school has refused to engage with the authority’s redeployment 
policy. 

 
Lewisham has considered the DfE guidance as set out above. It agrees that it is 
appropriate to consider whether a good reason applies in each case on its own 
merits.  
 
To that end, when relevant costs have been or are expected to be incurred, the 
school will be expected to complete a proforma giving details of the member of staff 
whose employment is terminating or has terminated, the reasons for and terms of 
the termination, and other relevant circumstances. Lewisham may seek other 
information if necessary. Lewisham’s Schools HR service will then record on the 
proforma what the costs associated with the dismissal are, and will give an initial 
view as to whether (and if so, why) good reason exists to charge all or part of those 
costs to the school’s budget. The school will have the opportunity to comment upon 
any such proposal to charge costs to its budget. If there is disagreement between 
Schools HR and the school as to what should happen, a decision will normally be 
taken by an officer at a senior level within the Directorate of Children and Young 
People, consulting if necessary with Schools HR and/or other officers. Exceptionally, 

Page 98



P a g e  | 68 

 

   

the Executive Director Children and Young People may decide to refer such an issue 
for decision at an appropriate level outside the Directorate. Schools will be expected 
to co-operate fully and promptly with this process, and a failure to do so may itself 
be treated as a good reason to charge the relevant costs to the school’s budget 
share. 
 
Lewisham does not consider that it is possible satisfactorily to provide a complete 
advance definition of what may constitute a good reason for charging the school’s 
budget share. The examples of “good reason” given in the DfE guidance are helpful 
and applicable but will not be treated as exhaustive. In particular, Lewisham expects 
schools to manage their staffing and budgets responsibly, both in the short term and 
over longer periods. This includes developing plans to adjust expenditure in line with 
actual and anticipated funding and income levels. There is an expectation that in 
many cases it should be possible to avoid the need for redundancies, or payments in 
lieu of notice, by appropriate planning and vacancy management. Schools which 
have incurred redundancy costs will be expected to explain why such costs could not 
reasonably have been avoided, and the absence of a satisfactory explanation is likely 
to be regarded as a good reason for charging the school’s budget share. Likewise, 
schools are expected to engage at an early stage with the Schools HR service, and to 
follow Lewisham’s policies, and other good employment practice, with a view to 
avoiding or minimising the cost of redundancies through redeployment. If a school 
has significant unspent and uncommitted balances (even if those balances are not 
“excess” ones as contemplated by the DfE guidance), and no pressing need to retain 
those balances, then that may constitute a good reason why costs should fall to the 
school’s budget share, rather than having to be met from other hard-pressed 
budgets. 
 
Where an individual’s employment is terminated for reasons other than redundancy 
(e.g. misconduct or lack of capability), it should normally be possible to effect this 
without additional cost by following proper procedures, and giving any notice to 
which the individual may be entitled. It is acknowledged that there may be cases 
where that is not so, but the incurring of unnecessary costs will normally be regarded 
as a good reason for charging the school’s budget share. Where liability for costs 
arises from an adverse decision of a court or tribunal concerning the lawfulness of a 
dismissal, or where it has been necessary to pay sums by way of settlement in the 
face of a claim or potential claim of such unlawfulness, then that will normally be 
regarded as a good reason for the school’s budget share to be charged – although 
the LA will always be prepared to consider the individual circumstances of the case. 
 
It is only in unusual cases that it is appropriate for payments to be made to secure 
the resignation of an individual employed to work at a school. Schools which 
anticipate offering such payments should consult with Schools HR in advance. A 
failure to do so, or a departure from the advice given, will generally amount to a 
good reason for charging any resulting additional costs to the school’s budget share. 
 
Even where there is a “good reason” for charging costs to a school’s budget share, 
Lewisham may exercise its discretion so as not to do so, in whole or in part. A 
favourable exercise of discretion may be considered, for example, if meeting the 

Page 99



P a g e  | 69 

 

   

costs in full would have a disproportionate impact upon the school’s budget and 
functioning.  
 
However, schools must be aware that there is no centrally retained budget or 
contingency fund for meeting such costs, and that Lewisham is therefore likely to 
take a rigorous approach in such cases. 
 
 
Staff employed for community purposes 
 
”Community purposes” refers, in relation to the staff of a maintained school, to 
members of staff employed for the purposes of the provision of services and facilities 
under section 27 of the Education Act 2002. 
 
In such cases, the legislation requires both costs in respect of premature retirement, 
and costs in respect of dismissal, or incurred for the purpose of securing resignation, 
to be recovered from the governing body except in so far as it is agreed in writing 
between the authority and the governing that they shall not be so recoverable. 
 
Where schools wish to seek such agreement, the same guidance and policy applies 
as set out under “Premature retirement costs” above. 
The governing body may meet such costs out of the school’s budget share, but only 
if it is satisfied that to do so will not to a significant extent interfere with the 
performance of its duties. 
 
Where a person is employed partly for community purposes and partly for other 
purposes then section 37(9) provides that the costs are to be apportioned between 
the two purposes. 
 

Page 100



 
 
         Appendix B 

 
Scheme for Financing Schools.  Consultation document. 
 
-1st November to 15th December 2019  
 
 
Please find attached a Draft Scheme for Financing Schools Document. 
 
This document was discussed by Schools Forum at its meeting on the 17th 
October 2019.   
 
Department for Education guidance requires that there is a period of consultation 
with Schools before changes are formally approved. 
 
The last full revision of the scheme for financing schools, took place prior to 1st 
April 2017.  This document updates the report for all changes arising from  
 

 DfE directives based on February 2019 changes  –these are in GREEN and 
are for information and completeness only 

 DfE directives based on PRE February 2019 changes  –these are in 
PURPLE and are for information and completeness only 

 Items previously agreed with Schools Forum- these are in PINK and are for 
information and completeness only. 

 Proposed changes to formalise changes in process recently discussed with 
schools.  Also revision of wording for clarification.  These items are in BLUE 
and require consultation.  Your responses should be focused on these 
changes.    

 
 

Name of School  

Name of person completing 
returns 

 

Positon of person completing   

Contact Details  

Date  

 

Do you agree with the proposed changes? 

Yes  No  

 
 
If no, we would like you to provide wording you feel is suitable for consideration.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please note the response should be for schools in general or by phase and not 
specific to your schools circumstances 
 

Section 
reference 

Proposed wording 

  
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

  
 
 

  
 
 

 
 

Page 102



             Schools Forum 17th October 2019 

             Item No.  9 

 

Mitigation Action Plan for SEN provision (18/06/19) 

Demand for places that meet the needs of children and young people with SEND is increasing.  This Mitigation Action Plan forms part of a wider strategy to 

ensure that there are sufficient SEND places in Lewisham to meet demand. 

 Key Objectives Aims Project Plan Timescale Lead 

1. CYP in the right 
provision 
 
Clear, 
transparent and 
fair admission 
criteria across 
Lewisham special 
schools that 
meets demand 

To ensure that children and 
young people with SEND are 
placed in the most 
appropriate education setting; 
 
To develop clear admission 
criteria for parents/carers and 
professionals in respect of 
Lewisham special schools and 
RBPs. 
 
To ensure that CYP with SEND 
are, where possible welcomed 
and included in their local 
mainstream education setting. 
 

 Review of admission criteria for 5 special schools is underway 
to be completed in time for September 2019 intake. 

 Work started on review of admission criteria has been 
undertaken over the past 12 months. 

 Final draft review to be produced and shared with all Heads to 
address the issue of criteria to reduce areas of overlap and to 
ensure that children/young people were in the right provision.   

 Special schools to revise information on pathways for 
admissions to support this process 

 Admission criteria for all RBPs revised – completed. 

 Schools to use the Annual Review process to ensure that CYP 
are placed in the most appropriate provision. 

 Implementation of the revised admissions criteria for all 5 
special school in place for Autumn 2019 

 The deadline will need to be revised as further work is 
required to secure agreement from all 5 special schools on the 
entry levels linked to the admission criteria.  

 Revised timeline to meet secondary transfer  

 Revised timeline to meet primary transfer 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Spring ‘19 
 
 
 
 
Sept ‘19 
 
 
Sept ‘19 
 
 
 
Oct ‘19 
Jan ‘20 
 

CS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VR 
VR 

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 9



2. Increase 
provision to meet 
growing demand 
 
Reduce spend on 
OOB provision 
and pressure on 
HNB 

Identification of potential for 
additional Resource Base 
Provisions to meet the needs 
of SEND children and young 
people. 
 

 To analyse data of SEND places in particular those OOB to 
identify potential provision in Lewisham through the setting up 
additional resource base provision in mainstream schools 
where it is deemed suitable. 

 To do a detailed financial analysis of SEND OOB placements to 
identify particular groups where there is high spend. 

 To draft an options papers for consideration by the HNSG on 
proposals to consideration on use of surplus places for SEND 
provision. 

 Explore increase in post 16 provision at Brent Knoll (as a pilot) 

 Explore increase in post 19 provision at Greenvale (pilot) 

 Explore increase in post 16/19 provision at Drumbeat (pilot) 
 

Jan/Feb 
‘19 
 
 
Feb ‘19 
 
 
March ‘19 
 
 
Jan ‘ 20 
Jan ‘20 

CS/LS 
 
 
 

3. Effective SEND 
sufficiency and 
place planning 
strategy 

Exploration of surplus places 
across the primary and 
secondary school estate with 
the potential to be used for 
specialist provision. 
 
Identify what the needs are 
and whether we have 
sufficient provision in borough 
to meet these. 
 

 Detailed analysis to be undertaken to identify provision 
required to meet needs of children/young people who are 
currently educated OOB. 

 Examination of potential use of some of those site through 
links with School Improvement, Lewisham Learning and 
Schools Capital Delivery Programme Team – to ensure 
appropriate steps taken for suitability and viability of any 
proposals for consideration. 

 To provide detailed map and draft proposals paper for 
consideration by the HNSG. 

 

Feb ‘19 
 
 
 
March ‘19 
 
 
 
 
March ‘19 

CS 
 
 
 
CS/MH 
 
 
 
 
CS 

4. Provide clarity 
and indication of 
the cost to the LA 
of the future 
pressure on HNB 
 
Details to support 
the LA strategy to 
reduce the 

Deep dive into current and 
projected requirements based 
on a clear understanding of 
demographics and 
educational needs.  
 
Research and analysis into the 
use of OOB provision to 
identify specific provision that 

 Data to be analysed against the backdrop of declining pupil 
numbers in Lewisham whilst there has been an increase in 
EHCPs. 

 To look at trends with primary and secondary admissions, 
parental preference, sufficiency and placement for SEND CYP 
in mainstream settings. 

Feb ‘ 19 
 
 
 
Feb ‘ 19 
 
 
Feb ‘19 
 

CS/LS 

P
age 104



overall spend on 
SEND provision 
and pressure on 
the HNB 

could be created in borough 
to meet needs and reduce 
high cost from the HNB. 
 

 To examine the impact of national changes in the increase in 
age range from 0-25 and other local initiatives such as 
introduction of Universal Banding Descriptors.  

 Conduct survey/questionnaire with schools to gain 
information on possible reasons for the increase in demand. 

 Conduct survey/questionnaire with parents/carers to see how 
much is about parental preference /quality of provision or 
sufficiency in respect of OOB places. 

 Undertake visits to OOB most used provisions (e.g. Riverston, 
Baston, Octavia House) to see the provision, what we can learn 
from them in meeting the needs of Lewisham CYP with SEND. 

 Examine outcomes for CYP in OOB provision to ensure that 
outcomes are being met and that it is VfM. 

 Detailed analysis of FAP decisions and spend from the High 
Needs budget to help to inform future policy in respect of 
children with additional needs below the EHC threshold. 

 Set up regular High Needs Funding Group to monitor overall 
spend across schools, services including the SEND and FAP 
Panels to ensure efficiency and equity. 

 To undertake detailed analysis of early years Inclusion Fund 
expenditure against the EHCPs issued for under 5’s.  

 To identify criteria for funding schools with disproportionate 
numbers of CYP with EHCPs 

 
April ‘19 
 
April ‘19 
 
 
May ‘19 
 
 
 
May ‘19 
 
 
Dec ‘19 
 
 
July ‘19 
 
Nov ‘19 
 
July 19 
 

5. Improve quality 
of provision and 
the SEND local 
offer across the 
sector. 

Further development of the 
SEND local offer (including 
effective early careers advice 
and guidance, work based 
training and supported 
internship) establishing clear 
links with the Post 16 local 
offer. 
 

 Local Offer to contain clear up to date advice about further 
education and employment pathways and opportunities. 

 Develop careers information and guidance for CYP with SEND.   

 Establish a sustainable partnership bringing together 
education and community services: parent forums, schools, 
colleges, adult and children social care services, education and 
health services to work together on developing the Pathway to 
Training and Employment for CYP with SEND Strategy within 
Lewisham. 

April ‘ 19 
 
Sept ‘19 
 
Sept ‘ 18 
 
 
 
 
 

CH 
 
CH VR 
 
CH 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 105



To deliver an offer that is 
sustainable and cost effective 
and takes into account 
predicted demand. 
 

 
Progress against key priorities for year 1:  
Priority 1: Development of a detailed and clear Local Offer 
Key achievements to date: 

 There is a dedicated Preparing for Adulthood area on the Local 
Offer website. 

 The EHC Plan Annual Review documents have been reviewed 
and updated with new employment measures.  

Next steps: 

 A new one page guide to be drafted for parents and young 
people on Lewisham’s pathways to employment.   

 The Preparing for Adulthood local offer to be tested with 
young people and parents / carers. 

 Employment data from the new annual review documents will 
be collated.  

Priority 2: Development of career advice from Year 9 
Key achievements to date: 

 There is a new best practice guide document for providing 
careers advice to young people with SEND. This includes an 
example annual career plan, careers policy, transition passport 
and careers information for parents’. 

Next steps: 

 The best practice guide will be rolled out to secondary schools 
from September 2019.  

Priority 3: Development of work based learning providers 
(Apprenticeships, Supported Internships & Traineeships). 
Key achievements to date: 

 Lewisham Council commissioned Project SEARCH to support 
with bringing together a partnership between a local Host 
Business, School or College, Lewisham Council, Supported 
Employment Agency and DWP to launch a sustainable 
Supported Internship Programme in September 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nov 19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sept 19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CH VR 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 106



 We have established a new Supported Internship programme 
from September 2019, with Lewisham College being the lead 
College, Phoenix Community Housing to be a Host Business 
and Toucan Employment being the Supported Employment 
Agency. 

 The new Support Internship programme will provide 8 young 
people with EHC Plans with the chance to improve their 
employment opportunities. 

Next steps: 

 Linking more programmes to Lewisham based Supported 
Employment providers who can provide ongoing sustainable 
support.  

 Pilot a new approach of providing identified young people 
from 17 years + with employment support such as job 
coaching through EHC Plans to provide more opportunities to 
gain employment.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nov 19 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CH 

6. Improve quality 
of inclusion and 
provision across 
Lewisham 
mainstream 
schools 

To ensure local mainstream 
provision in effective, of high 
quality and delivers good 
educational outcomes for CYP 
with SEND. 
 

 Establish the SEND Advisory Team within Lewisham.   

 Increase the positive outcomes for all young people with SEND 
especially in relation to improving attendance, improving 
attainment and reducing exclusions.    

 All Lewisham schools and specialist provisions are graded as 
yellow or green in Lewisham Learning Data Profile. 

 Report to SEND Advisory Board on the outcome of the Data 
Profile for each term during academic year 2018-2019. 

 Produce a final year report of the development of the SEND 
Advisory Service with a focus on key inclusion indicators a 
measure for all Lewisham schools.  

 Review the capacity of the SEND Advisory Team after the first 
year.  

 To explore how special schools can support the development 
of inclusion through different models (satellite e.g.  H&F model 
special schools link with mainstream settings. 

 VR 

P
age 107



 Increase Parental confidence 

 Quality Assurance visits to Alternative Provision to ensure 
needs of CYP with SEND are met. 

 Improve community Strategy about schools and transition
   

 

Lead Officers: 

CS Claudia Smith Consultant Senior Education Advisor 

VR Viki Redgrave SEND Quality, Standards and Inclusion Lead 

LS Lotte Stagg SEND Intelligence, Performance & Contract Monitoring Lead 

MH Matt Henaughan SGM Strategic Service Planning and Business Change 

CH Charlotte Hampton Supported Internship and Employment Project Manager Lead  

 

RAG 

P
age 108


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting - 11 July 2019
	5 DSG 2019-20 Update
	6 Schools Financial Health Check
	7 Committed Funds Scheme
	8 Revised Scheme for Financing Schools
	Item 8 - Appendix A - Scheme for Financing Schools - Showing Changes Oct 19
	Item 8 - Appendix B - Scheme for Financing Schools - Consultation Document

	9 High Needs Funding Update

